THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN RAP MUSIC AND THE PSYCHOLOGICAL WELL-BEING OF AFRICAN AMERICAN ADOLESCENTS

by

Tony L. Camp
A Dissertation
Submitted to the
Graduate Faculty
of
George Mason University
in Partial Fulfillment of
The Requirements for the Degree
Doctor of Philosophy
Education

Committee:	
	Chair
	Program Director
	Dean, College of Education and Human Development
Date:	Spring Semester 2017 George Mason University Fairfax, VA

The Relationship Between Rap Music and the Psychological Well-Being of African American Adolescents

A Dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at George Mason University

by

Tony L. Camp Master of Arts Howard University, 2006 Bachelor of Science Bowie State University, 2002

Director: Fred Bemak, Professor College of Education and Human Development

> Spring Semester 2017 George Mason University Fairfax, VA



THIS WORK IS LICENSED UNDER A <u>CREATIVE COMMONS</u> <u>ATTRIBUTION-NODERIVS 3.0 UNPORTED LICENSE</u>.

Dedication

This is dedicated to my mother, Gloria D. Camp, and my father, Tony L. Camp, Sr. Thank you for your guidance and support during this extremely difficult journey. I could not have made it without the support of both of you. I am proud that the both of you are my parents. Thank you mom for all of your prayers and your tremendous help and support as I progressed through the dissertation stage of my program. I would also like to dedicate this to my second family who have provided me with words of encouragement and support during my time in the program.

Acknowledgements

I would first like to give thanks to the almighty God for leading me through the dissertation process. I could not have made it without you, God.

I would also like to thank my family and friends for their unwavering support through this difficult time of my life. A special thanks to Pastor Delman L. Coates, Ph.D and my Mt. Ennon Baptist Church family and friends. A very special thanks to Dr. Mark Bolden, my mentor and friend.

Moreover, I would like to thank my supervisors and co-workers at AFGC for their words of encouragement and allowing me to take time off from work as I went through the dissertation process.

Thank you to my ABPsi family for their guidance and support. Thank you to the researchers and professionals who are striving to make rap music an evidence-based approach in counseling and educating the youth population.

Furthermore, I would like to thank the staff of Unchained Talent for believing in me and my study. I would like to thank the students for taking time out to speak to me about your attitudes and perceptions of rap music.

Dr. Fred Bemak, Dr. Rita Chi-Ying Chung, Dr. Regine Talleyrand and Dr. Frederick Harper were of significant help to me as I moved through the process. Dr. Fred Bemak, Dr. Rita Chi-Ying Chung, Dr. Regine Talleyrand and Dr. Frederick Harper, I know that I asked a lot of questions and seemed troubled at times with the things I needed to add and remove from the dissertation, but I thank you all for challenging my thoughts and encouraging me to dig deeper into what I needed to say and do for the dissertation. I also thank you all for not giving up on me, offering me words of encouragement and seeing me through the entire dissertation process when I was almost ready to give up. I am

grateful for the multiple meetings in order to complete the writing and analyses successfully. You all were the best.

I would also like to thank my peer reviewers, Mr. David Rhodes and Mr. Travis MaGhee for reviewing my coding and thematic results and offering me suggestions on what to add and remove from the qualitative results section of my dissertation. You all are going to change the world with your dissertations before you know it.

A very special thank you to Ms. Joan Stahle and Dr. Anastasia Kitsantas for helping me with the supporting documents for the dissertation and being available when I had questions concerning the dissertation process. I also thank Mrs. Sally Evans for allowing me to submit my dissertation for review a number of times in order to avoid waiting to the last minute to submit the final copy and make last minute changes.

Thank you to all my friends, especially Mr. David Ritter, Dr. Raymond Shorter and Ms. Laura Guillion for their support at a very difficult time for me within the dissertation process.

Table of Contents

	Page
List of Tables	ix
Abstract	X
Chapter One: INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of the Problem	3
Background of the Study	7
Operational Definition of Terms	11
Chapter Two: LITERATURE REVIEW	13
Theoretical Framework	13
Resiliency and Youth	17
Family and Social Issues Related to African American Adolescents and P Well-Being	•
The Struggles of African Americans	19
Linkage Between Rap Music and the Struggles of African Americans	21
African American Family as a Cultural Phenomenon	23
Teenage Pregnancy	26
Substance Abuse	28
Social Support and Well-Being	29
Church and School Activities and Well-Being	31
Physical Activity and Well-Being	33
Coping Styles of Adolescents	34
Bullying and Criminal Behavior on Well-Being	36
Impact of Music	38
Music and Well-Being	38
Rap Music	41
Rap Music Adolescent Listeners	41
Brief History of Rap Music	

The Categories of Rap Music	45
Sexual Rap	46
Positive Rap	46
Political Rap	47
Spiritual Rap	47
Gangsta Rap	48
Materialistic Rap	48
Programs and Organizations That Promote Knowledge Using Rap Music	53
Rap Artists Who Use Fame to Promote Society and Community Needs	55
Conclusion	56
Chapter Three: METHODOLOGY	57
Research Questions	57
Method	57
Participants	57
Sampling Procedure	58
Setting	58
Measures	59
Perceptions and Attitudes About Rap Music	59
Well-Being Manifestation Measure Scale	60
Interview Protocol	61
Procedure	61
Data Analysis	63
Quantitative Analysis	63
Qualitative Analysis	64
The Research Team	65
Research Hypotheses	67
Chapter Four: RESULTS	68
Quantitative Hypotheses and Analysis	69
Quantitative Findings and Analyses	70
Descriptive Statistics	70
Rap Music and Psychological Well-Being	70
Qualitative Analysis	74

Description of Coding Strategies	74
Qualitative Findings	75
Theme 1: Providing Emotional Support	75
Theme 2: Influencing Behavior Within Society	77
Theme 3: Influencing Attitudes and Perception	78
Theme 4: Promoting What Appears to Be Cool and Authentic	81
Theme 5: Promoting Diversity Among Rap Music	83
Theme 6: Promoting Support Among Rap Music	85
Chapter Five: DISCUSSION	90
Counseling Implications	94
Limitations	97
Future Research	99
Conclusion	102
Appendix A	106
Appendix B	108
Appendix C	110
Appendix D	112
Appendix E	115
Appendix F	116
Appendix G	118
Appendix H	120
References	122

List of Tables

Table 1	Page
Table 1: Description of the Participants by Age and Gender	70
Table 2: Mean and Standard Deviation for Rap Music for Subscale Measures	70
Table 3: Mean and Standard Deviation for Psychological Well-Being for Subscale	
Measures	71
Table 4: Pearson's Correlation for Rap Music Subscales and Psychological Well-Beir	ng
Subscales	72
Table 5: Pearson's Correlation for Scores on Rap Music Scale and Psychological We	ll-
Being	72
Table 6: Chi-Square for Adolescents by Age, Attitude and Perception of Rap Music	73
Table 7: Themes and Quotes from Participants About Rap Music	87

Abstract

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN RAP MUSIC AND THE PSYCHOLOGICAL

WELL-BEING OF AFRICAN AMERICAN ADOLESCENTS

Tony L. Camp, Ph.D

George Mason University, 2017

Dissertation Director: Dr. Fred Bemak

The attitudes and perceptions of adolescents about music have been investigated by

researchers and educators for years, which has implications on how they view life

circumstances. This qualitative study explored the relationship between rap music and

the psychological well-being of fourteen African American adolescents. The research

setting was in a mentoring program in a major metropolitan city in the Mid-Atlantic

region. The research questions for the study included: (1) What relationship does rap

music have to the psychological well-being of adolescents? (2) What are the attitude and

perception of African American adolescents about rap music? (3) What function does

rap music serve in the lives of African American adolescents? (4) What type of rap

music songs promote psychological support for African American adolescents?

X

Chapter One: Introduction

Rap music has become a popular musical genre within and outside of the United States (Mathis, 2006). Rap music gained traction within the 1970s with the song by the Sugar Hill Gang called Rapper's Delight (Cadena, 2006; Rose, 1994). With rap music's popularity, it has also become a source of controversy since its ultimate beginning (Elliot, 2005). Since its origins, rap music has been seen as the good, the bad and the ugly due to receiving good and bad reviews from the general public, leaving a continuous debate about whether it is a positive musical genre. Critics who thought that rap music was just a fad and would fade away were wrong and although it may be hard for critics to admit rap music may be here to stay (Elliot). It seems as if the more rap music is criticized, the more attention it receives from youth by influencing their interest to see the cause for controversy. Currently, youth strive to emulate the actions and behavior of their favorite artists (Mathis). Rap music is a powerful tool in the lives of youth especially the ones between the ages of 13 and 18 years of age (Lightstone, 2012). Rap music is a genre with an emphasis of expression of ideas and thoughts (Douglas et al., 1997) sampling from earlier works of music.

With the controversy surrounding rap music, critics have failed to take note of the positives relating to this musical genre (Binder, 1993). Hicks-Harper et al. (2007) completed a qualitative study of adolescents about their views of rap music. The results

from her study suggested that adolescents who incorporate rap music into their lives may feel stronger after listening to the genre and feel they can face the world (Hicks-Harper et al.). Numerous rap stars such as KRS-One, MC Lyte, Stetasonic, Kool Moe Dee, D-Nice and Public Enemy worked together to create a song called Self Destruction, which emphasized the need to stop the violence. In addition, various rap stars from the west coast such as NWA, Hammer, and Digital Underground collaborated on a song called We're All in the Same Gang to denounce violence along the west coast (Elliot). Despite these efforts to place rap music in a positive light, controversy still exists regarding the benefits of rap music.

Some critics believe that the goals of rap music are to insult women and increase sexual behavior and violence among individuals (Cromie, 1998; Tropeano, 2006).

Although there are songs within rap music that consist of themes of sexual behavior and violence, there are other genres within rap music that do not consist of those themes, which will be discussed further in Chapter 2. Some critics may also believe that rap music influences disruptive behavior of African American adolescents by encouraging them to repeat the behaviors they hear and see of their favorite rap artists (Alvarez, 2012). Pertaining to rap music, some African American adolescents may exhibit the viewpoint that the genre is beneficial by giving hope that he or she can succeed despite the odds (Alvarez). In addition, rap music may provide an avenue for African American adolescents to protest about the problems within their community and bring about a feeling of connectedness with individuals who live in the community (Allen, 2005; Chang, 2005).

Adolescence is a period of time for the individual where change is inevitable and adolescents search for an identity in the world (Hadley & Yancy, 2008). Adolescents in high school face a number of stressful situations such as substance abuse, school demands and social support, which will be discussed further in Chapter 2. In some instances, these issues can lead to making unhealthy decisions that can lead to trouble in life (Higgins, 2010). During this time, adolescents may be faced with adult responsibilities earlier than expected and not have knowledge about appropriate coping strategies (Hadley & Yancy). Therefore, the situation can lead to adolescents feeling depressed and with no place to turn (Hadley & Yancy). Some appropriate coping strategies that were used by some adolescents in the past to deal with depression or stressful situations included social support in the form of mentors (Chung et al., 2007; Rhodes, Ebert, & Fischer, 1992; Zimmerman, Bingenheimer & Notaro, 2002) through peers with a similar interest (Adderley et al., 2003); participation in church activities (Berg et al., 2009); school activities (Dotterer et al., 2007) or exercise (Baskin et al., 2013; Kelly et al., 2011). Without social support or the inability to complete physical activity within their community, one potential coping strategy for adolescents may be the use of rap music as therapy to cope with depression or stressful situations (Elligan, 2004; Tyson, 2002).

Statement of the Problem

Given the stressful nature of adolescence including the need to belong (Adderley et al., 2003), coping with loss and depression (Tyson, 2012) or engaging in violent behavior (Higgins, 2010; Ryan et al., 2013), some adolescents may be at risk for

dropping out of school, not achieving goals, serious injury, possible jail time, mental impairment and possibly death (Wingood et al., 2003). Some of the risky behaviors such as dropping out of school, unprotected sexual activity, drug use and engaging in illegal activities can put adolescents at risk. The results of this behavior may include substance abuse, or sexually transmitted diseases if not careful. Some underlying reasons for engagement in this type of behavior by adolescents may be their need to receive attention, feel a sense of belongingness with a specific peer group or feel good (National Institute of Drug Abuse, 2014; Knight et al.). Adolescents who engage in risky behaviors may see these activities as not being a threat to their well-being or may not understand that these type of risky behaviors can possibly produce serious consequences for their lives (Knight et al., 2015). One strategy is to educate adolescents about the long-term consequences for continuing to engage in dangerous, risky behaviors (Kim-Spoon et al., 2015; Shorey et al., 2015). There is a continuous need to adapt counseling strategies to work with adolescents (Bittman et al., 2009; Daykin et al., 2012). Often, adolescents come to therapy with health and social problems stemming from trauma, physical abuse, sexual abuse, drug and alcohol abuse, rejection, poor living arrangements and bullying (Arnull et al., 2007; Daykin et al., 2008; DeCarlo & Hockman, 2003). Other times, they may avoid receiving counseling for these situations because they may feel that there is nothing wrong with them or have issues of mistrust about the procedure (Alvarez, 2012). Therefore, they may continue to have issues that affect their well-being at home and at school. Adolescents may be encouraged to engage in unhealthy behavior from listening to rap artists talk about this in their rap songs. Without appropriate guidance and support

from a trusted adult or guardian, adolescents may think it is appropriate to engage in dangerous risky behaviors that they hear their favorite rap artists discuss in the songs (Hadley & Yancy, 2008). They may not understand that things that they hear rap artists talk about in their songs are not meant to be repeated and may be emphasized for shock value and to sell records. They also may not understand that the behaviors can lead to dangerous outcomes in life (Wingood et al.).

In addition, adolescents may present with learning disabilities and poor grades in school (Anderson & Overy, 2010). Times may be so difficult that adolescents may feel that they have no knowledge of how to cope with circumstances, which may lead to depression and possibly suicide. Depression is a major health issue for adolescents of all races, and it is believed that 15%-30% of adolescents will experience some form of depression (Duncan et al., 2012), which may lead to suicide if it is not treated. For teenagers, this is a serious cause for concern because suicide is the third leading cause of death for African American adolescents between the ages of 14 and 24 (American Association of Suicidology, 2008). Individuals may not understand that they can bounce back from unfortunate situations and still succeed in life (Masten, 1994). Moreover, they may not know that there are appropriate coping strategies available such as physical activity (Kelly et al., 2011), social support (Rhodes, Ebert & Fischer, 1992), or participation in school activity (Dotterer et al., 2007). For some adolescents, rap music listening may be a coping strategy for dealing with stressful situations. Also, rap music listening may be a strategy to help adolescents not to be depressed and become energized. This study will explore how and whether rap music is a coping strategy for depression for adolescents.

Through the period of adolescence, teenagers will have to tackle daily stressors such as the fear of not belonging to a group, academic achievement and parental and peer support (Clark et al., 2012). It can be especially be tough on African American adolescents who may experience the additional daily stressor of perceived racial discrimination (Irvin, 2012; Seaton et al., 2012; & Tynes et al., 2012). African American adolescents may begin to progress through life issues and look at rap artists from inner cities as their role models who have struggled if they do not have good social support from important figures in their lives (Williams, 2006). It is during this time that adolescents need an environment that encourages social support and appropriate coping strategies to deal with stressors (Mayo Clinic Staff, 2012).

Stressors within the life of adolescents such as struggling with peer relationships (Clark et al., 2012) or witnessing violence or being the victim of violence within their community (Higgins, 2010; Ryan et al., 2013) may form the basis of rap music lyrics or poetry for individuals. Rapper, Actor, Director and Producer, Ice Cube, former member of NWA, once reported that he "raps about things that he has witnessed or heard in his community" (Yo MTV Raps, 1991). Numerous rappers may agree with this statement because they are reporting that they are just informing others about situations in their life and the strategies they used to cope with them. Therefore, these situations helped them to be the individual that they are now. Also, Chuck D reported that "rap music is the CNN of the black community" because it reports top stories in the community (Douglas et al.,

1997). In the eyes of Chuck D and Ice Cube, rapping was an activity that can help them express their thoughts and emotions freely and appropriately without using inappropriate strategies such as violence. Rap music may be proactive in helping teenagers to cope with daily stressors and improve psychological well-being (Elligan, 2004; Tyson, 2002).

Background of the Study

The ecological systems theory developed by Bronfenbrenner (1979) was used as the theoretical framework for this study. This theory is based on the idea that the children's environment can have a significant impact on their way of thinking and living. It considers that situations or events influence the behavior and actions of individuals whether the situations or events occur directly or indirectly. It could range from activities such as things your family has done, your friend or peer has said to you, or something you heard on the radio or television relating to your environment. The theory will be further explained in Chapter 2, Literature Review.

The ecological systems theory has great potential to explain how youth are influenced in their daily living. The environment of adolescents provides models in which situations and events influence actions and behavior (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). Rap music was created as a form of music to express situations that take place within their environment (Elliot, 2005), but it is possible that the genre is controlling the teenager's mind more than the parents in the household (Mathis, 2006). The degree of influence of rap music on adolescent behavior is a controversial issue within the United States. It is controversial because critics believe that the genre of music is connected to adolescents' engagement in risky behavior such as substance abuse, increased sexual behavior which

possibly leads to unplanned pregnancies and violent behavior such as beating up another person for no reason, getting a gun to shoot someone for being disrespectful or talking to your significant other, or stealing to get money to purchase a popular brand (Ball, 2011; Cundiff, 2013; Wingood et al., 2003). In addition, critics believed that the genre places inappropriate thoughts in the mind of girls that it is okay to seek inappropriate attention from boys (Wingood et al.). With boys, critics believed it encourages them not to be intelligent to belong to a peer group or engage in bad behavior to be liked by girls (Cundiff). Adolescence is a period in life in which developmental and intellectual changes occur in the lives of children. Some predominant issues include the transition from childhood to adulthood, exploration, independence and intellectual growth (Hendricks & Bradley, 2005). These events may lead to poor self-esteem and irrational thinking and depression. Teenagers who may lack the social support necessary to move through life may "live vicariously through the words of their favorite rap artist" (Mathis, 2006, p. 2). Adolescents may deal with so much stressors that they are not able to perform well in school (Scott, 2011).

Although the musical genre has its critics, it also has some supporters as well especially among adolescents. Supporters of the rap music genre say that not all of rap music is a negative influence on adolescent behavior, but it is just the music they play on the radio (Ball, 2011). There are rap artists within the genre who do not use vulgar language, but radio stations fail to play their music (Ball). Artists hold honesty in high regard, so are they being honest about how life is and how to cope with life's stressors (Rose, 2008). Moreover, supporters of rap music may feel that some songs express using

positive strategies to deal with difficulties (Shakur, 1995). One example of this is the song, Glory by Common and John Legend, which emphasized the use of nonviolent means to protest equality regardless of age (Lynn & Stephens, 2015). The song also did not consist of vulgar language, won numerous awards for Best Original Song and received frequent airplay on radio stations (Frydenlund, 2015; Rutherford, 2015). Pertaining to music being played on the radio stations, a more, strict examination is needed to determine the type of songs that can receive airplay on the radio (Ball).

The music currently heard on the radio is determined by an organization called the Federal Communication Commission (FCC) and the role of the FCC is to monitor material displayed on television and radio. In this role, the FCC has failed miserably to make sure that the images of black individuals on the air are mostly positive (Ball). Pastor Delman L. Coates, Pastor of Mt. Ennon Baptist Church in Clinton, Maryland created the *Enough is Enough Campaign* to address the need for companies and organizations to promote more positive black images and stop promoting negative images and material of African American individuals through nonviolent protests (Rose). The primary purpose was to show that current African American images on television and material heard on the radio can influence and promote inappropriate behavior (Rose). Youth are the primary audience of rap and hip-hop and always influenced by the media (Ball, 2011; Elkouby, 2013).

Adolescents are influenced through numerous avenues such as music, television, peer, family and friends on a daily basis (Teen Pressure, 2004; Institute of Medicine and National Research Council Committee on the Science of Adolescence, 2011) and the

ecological systems theory stated that individuals are influenced within the environment in direct and indirect ways (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). Some behaviors that adolescents may emulate may cause them to get hurt (Crosby et al., 2012; Myers, 2012) or possibly arrested (Higgins, 2010). Rap music can play a direct or indirect role in teenagers' lives. Adolescents listen to an average of 10,000 hours of rap music in a year (The Cleveland Report, 2006). In school, many adolescents can recite the lyrics of their favorite rap artists, but may not perform well academically in school (George, 1998). During the period of adolescence, professionals and adults should become proactive to what teenagers listen to and their reasons. (Mayo Clinic Staff, 2012). The purpose of this study is to examine the relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents. It is important that counselors and other human service professionals recognize that adolescents listen to some form of music on a daily basis. Rap music could open doors for counselors and other human service professionals to enter the world of today's youth. Why rap music? Rap music is considered to be a useful tool to communicate thoughts about issues taking place within the world (Kitwana, 2002). Porter (2006) reported that children who often listen to negative themes on the radio or see negative images on television on a daily basis will engage in destructive behaviors. Numerous rap songs that are being played on the radio and viewed on television have detrimental impacts to African American youth (Porter). On the other hand, youth who receive praise and listen to music with positive themes are likely to engage in positive and healthy behavior (Porter).

What is unclear is the relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents. Research focuses on adolescents of diverse backgrounds, but not simply African American adolescents (Elliot, 2005; Lightstone, 2012; Porter, 2006; Tropeano, 2006). What purpose does rap serve in the lives of African American adolescents in the study and what types of rap music do they listen to and enjoy listening to? The goals of this study were to address the following questions:

- (1) What is the relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents?
- (2) What are the attitudes and perceptions of African American adolescents about rap music?
- (3) What function does rap music serve in the lives of African American adolescents?
- (4) Which type of rap music songs promote psychological support for African American adolescents?

Operational Definition of Terms

The present study frequently used terms and these were the following definition of the terms.

Rap Music- A musical genre that became popular in the 1970s in New York City with individuals talking while the beat is going.

New School Rap Music- The type of rap music that focuses heavily on beats with inappropriate themes.

Old School Rap Music- The type of rap music that arrived on the scene before 2000 with little inappropriate themes.

Psychological Well-Being- The way that individuals make judgment about their lives, whether they feel at peace with self or if they think they handled a situation appropriately. For example, do they feel at peace with self? Do they feel proud about how they handled the situation or how the situation turned out?

Adolescence- Participants between the ages of 14 and 17.

African American- A person who is mainly or partially of African descent who lives or is born in the United States of America.

Chapter Two: Literature Review

This review of literature encompasses the theoretical framework for the study, existing literature related to the use of rap music as an approach to work with adolescents and its effects on the psychological well-being of adolescents. Literature was identified using African American adolescents and well-being, and rap music and adolescent behavior. A review of the counseling literature produced research about the therapeutic uses of rap music. This literature review includes research about the numerous coping strategies used to manage stress and its effects on the lives of African American adolescents.

Theoretical Framework

As mentioned in the first chapter, the behavior and actions of children are influenced by direct and indirect factors in their environment. The model that Bronfenbrenner (1979) proposed consists of circles of situations, individuals and contacts that may play a role in the development of children. The first circle of influence is known as the microsystem, which represents the environment in which the individual lives (Pomerantz, Grolnick & Price, 2005). This environment includes the individual's family, peers, school and neighborhood. The second circle of influence is known as the mesosystem, which referred to the connections between experiences and events. This environment involves the connection between family relations and school relations;

school relations to church relations and family relations to peer relations (Pomerantz, Grolnick & Price). The third circle of influence is known as the exosystem, which consisted of settings that do not directly have anything to do with your life. It may include the parents' perceptions of the way their day at work went, which could influence their behavior at home. The next circle of influence is known as the macrosystem, which is the culture surrounded by the individual (Pomerantz, Grolnick & Price, 2005). It could be a low-income, middle-income or high-income neighborhood. Moreover, the chronosystem is the circle of influence that helps individuals deal with transition. A transition could mean moving from one neighborhood to another and going from one school to another school. With students moving to new environment, it is essential that human service professionals are mindful about who students are, their strengths and their likes and dislikes. "Most professionals who work in the school system are able to identify the types of music that they listened to when they were children and can identify how the music influenced who they are and how they see the world" (Lum, 2008, p. 140). These factors may help to explain the reasons that individuals act or behave in the manner that they do.

With the research relating to the impacts of the environment on individual actions and behavior, there is an increase need for youth to identify and use appropriate coping mechanism when there is an unfortunate situation due to issues affecting their ability to function appropriately inside and outside of the classroom. If situations are too serious, there may be a need for individuals to seek counseling. It has been found that "forty-seven percent of youth report a background of physical and sexual abuse" (Delivering

Healthcare to the Homeless, 2003). One of the goals for youth is for them to begin to open up and trust the therapeutic process (Koffman et al., 2009). When youth engage in inappropriate behavior in school, they are placed in either in-school or out-of-school suspension for a period of time (Anyon et al., 2014; Hannon, DeFina, & Bruch, 2013; McElderry & Cheng, 2014). For suspensions and expulsions, African American youth comprise over 30% of school suspensions in 2000 (U.S. Department of Education, 2000; McElderry & Cheng, 2014). African American youth are suspended from school at a higher rate when compared to white youth (Anyon et al., 2014; Belgrave & Brevard, 2015; McElderry & Cheng). When the suspension is over, the youth may continue to engage in the particular inappropriate behavior, which can possibly lead to expulsion, have to repeat a grade based on the number of times suspended from school, and possibly lead to involvement in the juvenile justice system for repeated offenses (Hannon, DeFina, & Bruch, 2013; Skiba et al., 2002). In contrast, youth also may not understand the reason for engaging in the behavior and possess low self-esteem and lack the knowledge of resources available for emotional and behavioral support (Koffman et al.; Reyes et al., 2013). If youth continue to engage in disruptive behavior inside and outside of school, they can run the risk of possibly getting into serious trouble and suffering serious consequences (McCormick et al., 2013). Youth who may engage in traditional approaches to therapy such as Reality Therapy or Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy may be opposed to the process because the idea of simply talking to someone they do not know may be an issue or the idea that someone is giving them advice about something that they never experienced in their lifetime (Wells & Heilbron, 2012). As mentioned earlier, the

stage of adolescence is a tough period for individuals who are slowly transitioning from childhood to adulthood.

Adolescence is a time period that could possibly be marked with depression and suicidal ideation (Pisani et al., 2012) and the use of numerous coping strategies to overcome life's obstacles. Adolescence can be a time of mixed emotions because adolescents want to be accepted by others and may end up engaging in behaviors that they see others engaging in with the end goal of being liked (Elligan, 2004). Also, it is a time where they want to be successful in spite of the consequences (Koffman et al., Therefore, it is important to understand the coping mechanisms that they use with the goal of being successful inside and outside of school (Koffman et al.). The belief that he or she is not successful and happy inside or outside of school can lead to feelings of hopelessness, poor view of self, inability to think rationally and may lead to having suicidal thoughts (Greger et al., 2015). A common method used by adolescents to deal with displeasure in their lives is committing suicide (American Association of Suicidology, 2014; Cui et al., 2010; Pisani et al., 2012), which is often discussed by professionals in the mental health field. One of the strategies that could be used by adolescents who are depressed and possess suicidal ideation is communicating with adults they trust or a mental health professional (Pisani et al.). For mental health services, the possibility exists that adolescents have irrational thoughts and beliefs about the usefulness of mental health professional services and have an unwillingness to seek the resources (Santiago & Wadsworth, 2009). Therefore, adolescents who may be "seriously depressed or possess mortal thoughts may seek solace in the form of drugs and alcohol (Pisani et al.) or seek support from individuals (Voisin et al., 2011). In spite of the circumstances that take place in the stage of adolescence, it is important for them to know that when "they fall down, they can get back up again" (McClurkin, 2000).

Resiliency and Youth

In daily life, it is important for adolescents to learn that they can bounce back from negative outcomes in their lives. Resiliency is the ability for individuals to handle stress and possess the ability to recover rapidly from stressors (Masten, 1994; Ungar, 2004). The foundation of the resiliency theory was created through research of children raised by mothers who were diagnosed with schizophrenia (Masten et al., 1990). The study showed that even though children were raised by mothers who were diagnosed as schizophrenic, they were able to be successful in school and in life similar to those children who were raised by parents not diagnosed as schizophrenic (Masten et al.). In spite of the obstacles that children may have to endure in life, some children may not show any overt signs of problematic behavior connected to the diagnosis (Zimmerman, Bingenheimer, & Notaro, 2002). Two models were described by Zimmerman et al. that highlighted the success of mentors through resiliency theory. The first model is the compensatory model of resiliency, which highlighted that positive and healthy things within an adolescent's life may compensate for chances of being diagnosed with the disorder. The model clarified that the adolescent may interact with individuals who use drugs and alcohol, but he or she may not use drugs or alcohol due to participation in numerous healthy leisure activities. The second model was known as the protective factor model, which theorized that some external influences may change the dynamics

between the possibility of diagnosis of a disorder and the final result. Through the creation of the model, it was discovered that high parental support eased the influence of adolescents' friends to engage in dangerous and unhealthy behaviors. Peers can serve as a positive or negative influence on adolescent behavior (Oetting & Donnermeyer, 1998), which is the foundation for another theory known as the socialization theory. According to Zimmerman et al. (2002), the socialization theory hypothesized that peer pressure can encourage adolescents to engage in dangerous and unhealthy behavior. In one study, the communication between peers about the benefits of drinking alcohol influenced others to drink alcohol because they wanted to be associated with them (Ennett & Bauman, 1991). Zimmerman et al. explored the role of mentors in the lives of urban adolescents and discovered that the adolescents who had a mentor in their lives reported they did not engage in inappropriate behavior outside of school, were likely not to abuse drugs or experience depression. It was recommended that parents should develop good relationships with their children with the goal that they do not engage in dangerous and unhealthy behavior (Hurt et al., 2013) regardless of the cultural background.

Family and Social Issues Related to African American Adolescents and Psychological Well-Being

In the African American culture, it is often instilled into youth that the things that take place at home stays in the home (Roberts et al., 2005). Therefore, youth may feel that they have to hide their emotions. Parental influence and mentoring programs have received attention with the goal of reducing problematic behavior of adolescents.

Supportive parenting had a degree of influence in the lives of African American

adolescents in increasing academic achievement and competence (Prelow et al., 2007;
Bryant & Zimmerman, 2003). Adolescents who felt a sense of belongingness at school and at home were likely to feel competent and do well in their environment (Prelow et al., 2007).

The Struggles of African Americans

Some historical events that may have led to the unfortunate situations of African Americans include slavery, segregation and discrimination (Hine et al., 2000). Although this may create disagreement among historians, one result of slavery was the fragmented family structure of African Americans. Once slavery was abolished, members of the family may have been missing or separated from original family. With slavery abolished, individuals believed that things would turn around and the races would happily co-exist, but this turned out to be incorrect and possibly made matters worse. In order to address this situation, politicians came up with the idea of segregation where things were to be separate but equal, but African Americans were "forced to attend schools that were not in great condition, have books that were in poor condition and outdated and slowed down any success that they can have in life" (Winfrey, 2013, p. 1). Then, a period known as the Great Migration emerged.

The Great Migration took place and some African Americans moved from the South to areas in the North and West in the United States with very little job prospects and separation from the majority culture. Some of these problems faced by African Americans today may be caused by the results of slavery and segregation. Some issues may be high school dropout rates, mis-education and the need to take care of family so

they can survive (Gibbs et al., 2013). There are some alarming rates among African Americans when it comes to education. Nationally, African American males have over 40% chance of dropping out of high school and in some cities; the statistic may be higher than 40% (Winfrey). In addition, African Americans account for over 30% of school suspensions and expulsions when they only make up about 20% of the school population (Winfrey). Furthermore, African Americans are placed in special education at a higher rate than white adolescents and have a lower rate of being in honors classes (Winfrey). With low job prospects, some African Americans may feel the need to earn money by any means necessary even if it means breaking the law. This event leads to about 66% of African American males appearing in criminal justice system (Gibbs et al., 2013), African American males going to prison, not going to college, and being away from family for long periods of time (Winfrey, 2013).

Scott (2012) stated that "the biggest enemy of poor and oppressed communities is a conservative political ideology that has been around for a long time, but beginning to be championed by one specific political party" (p. 3). Scott continued by emphasizing that this party is headed by individuals who spend the day telling negative jokes about African Americans. The motto for this party is to "do whatever they can to keep the power and remain in power" (p. 3). This motto continues to be in play and affects minorities today (Scott). In order to address the injustice taking place to minorities, rappers started to voice their thoughts and concerns within their rap songs beginning in the early 1980s.

Linkage Between Rap Music and the Struggles of African Americans

Rap music started to clash with politics beginning in the 1980s when rappers such as Melle Mel, Public Enemy and NWA criticized numerous political figures for trying to keep the balance of power for wealthy individuals (Scott). New York rapper, Sista Souljah (1992) made clear that racism was present, but people thought she lost her mind when she pointed it out to them in the song, Final Solution. This statement was made clear when Conservative commentator, Bill Bennett, who is a big opponent of rap music, specified in the 2000s that "you could abort every black baby in this country and your crime rate would go down" (Faler, 2005, p. 1). Chicago rapper, Kanye West (2013) would go on to echo the same response of Sister Souljah in his song, New Slaves, that racism exists within society and the recording industry with rappers who do not understand their recording contract, but offered luxury items to encourage them to sign to their label.

The comparison of rap music to slavery is a reference that is used to highlight the state of the rap music industry. Meadows-Ingram (1999) reported that southern rappers, Eightball and MJG made a video in 1999 that showed how rap artists were being taken advantage of by record executives with money. In an interview at New York University's Institute for African American Affairs, Tricia Rose, author of Black Noise and Hip Hop Wars, emphasized that slavery was about "the control and exchange of black bodies in a capitalist system and although the physical impact of slavery on African-Americans no longer exists, it is still being felt psychologically and financially from members of the dominant culture (Meadows-Ingram). The process of the music

industry is the "distributer profits from all sales free from any real risk and artists who were not successful in selling their music must still pay money to their label when they begin recording new material for an upcoming album" (p. 2). Some of the money that must be repaid includes money for production and promotion of music. Thus, rap artists and members of their family are impacted psychologically and financially when their records do not perform well (Meadows-Ingram).

Another connection to slavery from rap music is the use of literary language in the lyrics of artists. The uses of metaphors in the songs are used to emphasize things that are taken place within the environment (The Round Table of Hip Hop, 2009). During slavery, slaves would sing and create songs that appeared not to pose problems on the surface with owners, but consisted of hidden meanings or messages in the songs such as instructions on how to become free (The Round Table of Hip Hop). Today, rap artists use metaphors in their songs to talk about things such as how the government may be taken advantage of the poor, drug use, violence or crimes committed by individuals.

Then, there is the topic of snitching among rap artists. Snitching is the form of telling a person of authority or peer about illegal or unhealthy behavior that occurs (Schorn, 2009). In the past, "when slaves snitched on other slaves, the worst case scenario of the slaves who told about bad behavior was loneliness and isolation from other slaves" (p. 3). However, slaves who informed others about bad behavior of the master may receive a beating (The Round Table of Hip-Hop). Individuals who are caught snitching can risk physical or psychological harm to themselves and possibly family members.

African American Family as a Cultural Phenomenon

Family environment is another obstacle for African American youth. Problem behaviors are associated with marijuana use and delinquency for males, but psychological distress for females includes anxiety and depression (Salem et al.). African Americans have had to deal with significant circumstances to survive and succeed within their environment and this trend continues today.

When the Great Migration emerged, economic growth in the North created a population boom of African American families in northern cities of the United States (Wilson, 2003). The thought behind this phenomenon was that cities provided a better opportunity for them to succeed and make a better living for themselves (Wilson). Better living included being able to attend schools, churches and create businesses and organizations led by minority individuals (Wilson). Also, minority groups felt that living together in urban areas would reduce the issue of racism (Wilson). In later years, a recession took place and created unemployment which severely impacted African American households.

A theory behind the poverty in urban areas were technological advances and employment shifts (Wilson). The increases in unemployment and single-parent households within the urban areas were alleged to have created poor urban neighborhoods (Wilson). Other causes in the rise of poor urban neighborhoods were the migration of middle and upper class residents into other locales and decrease in interaction with individuals of diverse ethnic backgrounds. One bright spot was the fact

that African Americans were working, but working in low-paying jobs that made it a struggle to support the needs of their family.

The 1990s was marked with struggle within African American urban communities and family members were unable to support the needs of their family (Wilson). Joblessness within the urban areas during the 1990s was worse because family members were without work while African Americans were poor but worked between the 1950s and 1970s (Wilson). The result of joblessness helped to create issues within the African American urban community such as crime, welfare and mental health services (Wilson). Living in urban areas can present problems with depression for African American adolescents (Ball et al., 2003; Forehand et al., 2000) with findings that adolescent girls were more susceptible to experiencing mental health issues than adolescent boys (Peterson, Sarigiani & Kennedy, 1991). To address some of these issues, Saulsberry et al. (2013) created a program known as the Chicago Urban Resiliency Building (CURB) that addressed the effects that depression may play on the behavior of adolescents and examined the influence that peers and family play in the life of the African American adolescent. Results were not reported about the benefits of the program, but a strength that was noted was the program's effectiveness, which will make it easier for the clinician to intervene in a crisis situation when adolescents are going through a state of depression.

The lack of parental involvement and family connection are two situations that may lead to gang affiliation of African American adolescents. Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990) created a theory of juvenile delinquency, which stated that the lack of impulse

control due to parental failures to adequately raise their children leads to juvenile delinquency. Delinquency was also related to increased stress. Schmeelk-Cone et al. (2003) sampled 421 African American adolescents in a longitudinal study of school dropout and drug use and found that early delinquency was connected to higher levels of psychological distress. They also found that parental support decreased the levels of stress among African American adolescents. With parental monitoring, African American parents reported that they tended to closely supervise and create more rules with girls as compared to boys (Pettit et al., 2001) and created more rules as well with girls (Varner & Mandara, 2013). Another study examined differences between African American parents living in an urban and a rural community and found parents living in the urban community closely monitored their children more than parents living in a rural community (Armistead et al., 2002). Yet, the study found that parental supervision and support were found to protect African American teenagers from engaging in dangerous and unhealthy behavior.

When experiencing disagreements with teenagers, African American middle class parents stated that the disagreement with boys were about the completion of school projects and homework (Smetana & Gaines, 1999), while they tended to disagree with their daughters about who they can date or have a relationship (Cauce et al., 1996). Punishment was used more with boys than girls (Smetana & Gaines). Both boys and girls reported receiving the same levels maternal support (Cauce et al.).

It is not uncommon for African American single parents to have support from others in raising their children. For parental support, the majority of African American

mothers who are single may seek support from their significant other with whom they share the child rearing responsibilities (Parent et al., 2013). Some may consider the child's biological fathers and others may consider close friends or relatives (Parent et al.). When parents or close relatives are not available to raise their children, the older siblings may be asked to take an active role in supervising children and not realize that if they engage in unhealthy behavior, the younger siblings will likely follow the same behavior (Dyson, 2001; Hopps et al., 2009; Pomery et al., 2005). This theory was based on Bandura's (1979) social learning theory which emphasized that individuals learn through watching and imitating behaviors of others.

Family plays a role in adolescents engaging in unhealthy sexual behavior (Oster, 2008). Beh and Diamond (2006) reported that almost all of adolescents have engaged in some form of sexual activity within their lives and may not be educated about protecting themselves from sexually transmitted diseases or pregnancy. Therefore, family members should take the time to educate them about the dangers of unprotected sexual activity.

Teenage Pregnancy

Moreover, teenage pregnancy among African American adolescents is higher when compared to other ethnic backgrounds (CDCP, 2015). Nationally, the majority of the teen pregnancies in the United States alone were considered unplanned pregnancies (Weiss, 2013). Unplanned pregnancies were considered to be engaging in sexual behavior without protection and without the expectation of bringing a child into the world (Afable-Munsuz et al., 2006). Afable-Munsuz did a study that looked at African American women (including adolescents) from New Orleans at a prenatal clinic, which

provided free prenatal care service. The study found that participants perceived pregnancy as an opportunity to be loved by someone and to establish goals of what they want to do with their lives.

Crosby et al. (2002) explored African American adolescent females' perception of condom use to prevent pregnancy and sexually transmitted diseases. Adolescents were randomly placed into one of two groups, a 16 hour program with the theme of the importance of engaging in safe sexual methods and health awareness and the other group was a 4 hour group on three Saturdays in a row to also discuss safe sex and health awareness (Crosby et al.). The results showed that African American female adolescents who were pregnant were not likely to use condoms in comparison to non-pregnant females, and over 20% of participants in the study were diagnosed with a sexually transmitted disease (Crosby et al.). Abstinence from sexual activity was found to be the safest approach to prevent an unplanned pregnancy (Umar, 2004).

The goal of programs that support abstinence from sex until marriage is to encourage adolescents to work on achieving their objectives and promoting health awareness. A program called Recapturing the Vision is a program that encourages youth to possess confidence in their decision to wait until marriage to engage in sexual behavior (Umar). Another program based in Arizona known as the Pima Youth Partnership emphasized the importance of abstinence to adolescents (Umar). The programs emphasize the importance of achieving one's goals to prevent unwanted pregnancy and the derailment of planned goals. Having a child can create stress especially on a teenager if he or she is not properly prepared and able to tackle the stressors that come along with

this situation (Umar). Some rap songs played on urban radio stations expose listeners to degrading sexual lyrics and can lead adolescents to engage in unprotected sexual behavior and possibly lead to female pregnancy if not careful (Primack et al., 2008).

Substance Abuse

With some of the rap songs being played on the radio, adolescents may hear about some drug and alcohol references and may not understand the consequences of using of certain types of drugs. Clark et al. (2008) theorized that the abuse of substances is more detrimental for African Americans in comparison to other ethnic groups. Myers (2013) conducted a study to explore the risk factors for substance abuse among African Americans in rural communities, collecting data from a rural county in Georgia. Some of the risk factors for rural African American adolescent substance abuse included having relationships with individuals who don't make good choices relating to drugs and alcohol and reaching the middle and late stage of adolescence and having plans not to continue education after high school (Myers). In contrast, the protective factors for not engaging in substance abuse included constant supervision by trusted adults and understanding the consequences of substance abuse (Myers).

Substance abuse is a common occurrence with adolescents in rural communities (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2006). A prevention program was created to address problems related to substance abuse and HIV with rural adolescents (Brown & Wells, 2006). The study took place in Florida with mentors and twenty-one adolescents participating in the study. Participants reported that the program was useful in identifying resources available in the area for substance abuse and HIV and how peers

can discourage engagement in dangerous and unhealthy behavior that is oftentimes done (Brown & Wells, 2006). In addition, adolescents reported that their main reason for engaging in dangerous and unhealthy behavior was to feel a sense of belonging (Brown & Wells). A shortcoming in this study was that the study consisted of students of diverse ethnic backgrounds, but the results can apply for African American adolescents as well.

Hurt et al. (2013) organized a follow-up study that collected data from adolescents who participated in the Strong African American Families Program. In order for youth to participate, adolescents had to attend at least four educational sessions and achieve a score of 50 or higher on a scale that targeted alcohol use and parenting behavior. Parents who participated in the program took part in the study. Parents reported that they regretted not paying close attention to their children who were experimenting with dangerous substances. In contrast, adolescents who engaged in substance abuse reported that dangerous substances were easily accessible in their neighborhood through neighbors or a close family member. It was recommended that parents should develop good relationships with their children with the goal that they do not engage in substance abuse and make sure that they have good social support.

Social Support and Well-Being

Relationships play a huge role in the development of adolescents (Adderley et al., 2003; Erikson, 1968). Adderley et al.'s study found that adolescents joined the school band to be a part of a group and make friends with similar interests (Adderley et al.). The band also helped to increase confidence and self-esteem of adolescents (Adderley et al.). Participation in a school band can possibly provide an avenue for adolescents to do

something that takes their mind away from the stressors and redirecting their energy onto something positive and socially stimulating.

Researchers have found that mentors can be helpful in the lives of adolescents (Miranda-Chan et al., 2016; Liang et al., 2013; Schwartz et al., 2013; Zimmerman, Bingenheimer, & Notaro, 2002). Adolescents have reported that they had to thank their mentors for helping them to get through the struggles of adolescence. (Schwartz et al.). Some examples of mentors have included teachers, counselors from the Boys and Girls Club, counselors from school, neighbors or church leaders who influences the mentee to achieve positive goals and move in the right direction in life (Miranda-Chan et al.). In a study, African American mothers reported that their children experienced less stress and heartache as a result of having a mentor in their lives in comparison to children who did not have a mentor (Rhodes et al., 1992). Twenty-three emerging adults participated in a qualitative study to share role models and mentors instilled positive motivation within the youth population (Bowers et al., 2016). Teaching and sharing of personal experiences were the two approaches commonly used by mentors to guide and motivate them (Bowers et al.; Liang et al.; Miranda-Chan et al.). A wealth of knowledge and support were also noted as essential features of a good mentoring relationship (Chung et al., 2007). In Steen and Bemak's (2008) study with at-risk adolescents, it was found that atrisk adolescents desired the ability to be heard and be able to express thoughts and concerns freely.

When individuals do not possess social support, adolescents may turn to the internet as an alternative (Mesch & Talmud, 2010; Dolev-Cohen & Barak, 2012).

Through the internet, adolescents may connect with others through Skype or Facebook (Rainie, Purcell, & Smith, 2011). Instant messaging is becoming a common approach for adolescents with the goal of seeking assistance for their emotional needs (Dolev-Cohen & Barak; 2012). The benefits of instant messaging include not having to give personal information, but enhancing the individuals' writing skills. The use of instant messaging with adolescents who were and were not in distressed was examined and the results showed that it produced a positive change in well-being and reduced feeling of loneliness (Dolev-Cohen & Barak). Pea et al. (2012) created an online survey to explore the connection between social well-being and the daily usage of social media by girls that included music listening and video viewing and social well-being was social success and feelings of acceptance. A total of 3,461 girls between the ages of eight and twelve years of age completed the online survey. When exploring the relationship between the two variables, the results indicated that negative social well-being was positively associated with uses of media without the emphasis of social connection with others. Another alternative was the use of individual counseling (Kolbert, Crothers & Field, 2013). Through counseling, family counselors can use the Bowen family systems approach, which shows the adolescent how their behavior is being influenced by relationship with immediate family members (Bowen, 1978).

Church and School Activities and Well-Being

Research has shown that religion and participation in church activities was related to lower rates of engagement in substance abuse and stress (Billy et al., 1994; Donahue & Benson, 1995; Evans et al., 1995; Williams, 2006). Ball et al. (2003) sought to examine

the relationship between religion and adjustment among African American female urban adolescents in a study consisting of 492 African American female adolescents.

Participants were requested to complete scales in self-esteem, religion and well-being (Ball et al.). The study showed that adolescent females who attended church on a weekly basis engaged in low levels of sexual activity and exhibited high self-esteem (Ball et al.). Berg et al. (2009) also discovered that adolescents who did not attend church were likely to engage in smoking and have poor work habits in school. The results were obtained from an urban adolescent center in the mid-west (Berg et al.) also finding that adolescents were likely to smoke if parents disapproved of the activity and exhibit depressive symptoms.

Finn (1989) created a model called the participation-identification model, which theorized that graduation from high school is connected to the amount of time adolescents spend on daily constructive activities at school. Dotterer et al. (2007) explored the connection through research on African American middle and high school students. Phone interviews took place between the researchers, parents and their children. The study not only looked at academic extracurricular activities, but also sports activities in which the adolescents were engaged in on a daily basis. At the end of the study, the results showed how important it was for adolescents to participate in afterschool activities due to its relationship to positive self-esteem in school when compared to adolescents who attended school and did not participate in after-school activities. Participation in after-school activities also led to the development of friendships with

other adolescents. When individuals are not involved in extracurricular activities in their leisure time, they can engage in a form of physical activity.

Physical Activity and Well-Being

Physical activity is an important activity among adolescents who have a goal to live a healthy life into adulthood (Kelly et al., 2011). Statistics showed that over 23 million children and adolescents in the United States struggle with obesity (Baskin et al., 2013). Moreover, the lack of exercise among adolescents has been linked to poor mental health and well-being (Kelly et al., 2011). With the goal of knowledge about services for physical health, Talleyrand (2010) recommended the creation of health workshops that targeted the African American population.

Adolescents who had a body mass index over the 95th percentile were eligible to participate in a study to measure the relationship between physical activity and psychosocial functioning (Kelly et al., 2011). Participants were between 11 and 18 years of age. Physical activities took place on the campus of a university in the southeastern portion of the United States. Well-being was measured using a depression inventory. Kelly et al.'s (2011) research study showed that engaging in high physical activity was associated with an increase in social interaction and positive view of self. This study looked at both White and African American adolescents and consisted of predominantly females.

Baskin et al.'s (2013) study looked at African American adolescents who lived in the southern portion of the United States with 116 individuals between the ages of 12 and 16. This study found that adolescents did not engage in physical activity if they thought the neighborhood was not safe, and most of the physical activities were completed during the week. Consistent with Kelly et al.'s (2011) study, physical activity was connected to increase in social functioning and a positive view of self (Baskin et al.). Both studies explored the importance of physical activity.

The goal of Gamble et al.'s (2009) study was to explore factors that affected the relationship between physical activity and obesity among adolescents. The study investigated the importance of consistent family values regarding physical activity and effectiveness in physical activity when eating healthier foods. The researchers found that the individuals' belief in the importance of healthy eating and physical activity were predictors of success in weight loss and highlighted the importance of family support when it comes to exercise and healthy eating.

Findings from Duncan et al. (2012) study indicated the importance of physical activity to reduce depressive symptoms. Data were collected from 371 adolescents between the ages of 12 and 17 in the North-Western portion of the United States. For youth with elevated depressive symptoms, gender and strong social support was linked to the increase in physical activity. With the numerous coping mechanisms available, individuals were found to have a particular coping style when faced with unfortunate circumstances.

Coping Styles of Adolescents

Numerous studies examined the coping styles of adolescents when faced with negative circumstances. In one study, Rudolph and Hammen (1999) discovered that adolescent females experience more stress connected to problems with other people in

comparison to boys, but adolescent males experience more stress if they engage in delinquent behavior. In contrast, Connor-Smith (2000) reported that there are two coping styles, voluntary and involuntary coping styles based on the Responses to Stress Model. A voluntary coping style is when an individual takes on the stressor. Some examples may include effective decision-making and expressing thoughts or feelings about the situation (Connor-Smith). In contrast, an involuntary coping style is when the individual avoids or denies the stressor. The use of coping strategies such as social support and changing irrational thoughts had a positive impact in reducing depression symptoms among adolescents (Sandler et al., 2000). Rogers and Holmbeck's (1997) discovered that social support had a negative impact on depression among adolescents dealing with conflict with parents. Avoidance of conflict as a coping strategy has been reported to worsen results for adolescents coping with life stressors (Wadsworth, 2015), but some research has shown that avoiding conflict is helpful when the conflict is with a family member (O'Brien et al., 1995).

A stressor for some adolescents who live in an urban area may be exposure to violence (Council of Children & Families, 2010). The experience of witnessing violent behavior can lead to some disorders such as post-traumatic stress disorder (Osofsky, Wewers, Hann & Fick, 1993), inappropriate, disruptive behavior at school or in the neighborhood (Tolan & Gorman-Smith, 2003), or abuse of drugs (Dorsman, 1998). Rudolph and Hammen (1999) discovered that adolescent females experience more stress connected to problems with other people in comparison to boys, but adolescent males experience more stress if they engage in delinquent behavior. In recent years, the use of

drama has been used as a therapeutic approach to educate adolescents about issues that can potentially impair their development (Gilk, Nowak, Valente, Sapsis & Martin, 2002). Allen and Solomon (2012) used educational entertainment to help adolescents process their experience with witnessing violence in their neighborhood. A play was used to educate adolescents about the negative impact that drugs have on the body (Stephenson & Iannone, 2006). Results showed that the use of approaches familiar to adolescents allows them to learn skills and showed that drama was an effective approach for adolescents to learn about health issues. Moreover, previous findings on the influence of music demonstrated that music helps adolescents to relax, instill cognitive empathy and cope with daily stressors (Lozon & Bensimon, 2014; McFerran & Saarikallio, 2014), which may indicate the possibility of rap music helping African American adolescents to cope with daily stressors in their lives.

Bullying and Criminal Behavior on Well-Being

Bullying is an act by individuals who use intimidation or other forms of aggressive behavior against someone who may lack power or ability to defend themselves (Olweus, 1993). Although the degree of bullying may decrease once adolescents enter high school, bullying via Facebook may arise (Bradshaw et al., 2007). The effects of bullying can lead to deadly violence. Statistics show that over 20% of youth have been victims of bullying and almost 6% reported possessing a deadly weapon during the previous year (Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System of 2011, 2012). A study that looked at African American youth showed that experiencing bullying behavior led them to be more aggressive and engage in criminal behavior (Higgins, 2010), but

further studies are needed to see if it leads to joining gangs for protection purposes (Bradshaw et al.). The lack of educational goals in high school and beyond, high suspension rates from school and engaging in criminal behavior may play roles in adolescents making the decision to join gangs (Hill et al., 2012). However, research shows that it was possible for youth who engage in the act of bullying to join gangs (Fletcher et al., 2004), and engage in substance abuse to ward off feelings of neglect or depression (O'Brennan et al., 2009). Bradshaw et al. conducted a study at fifty-two high schools in the state of Maryland to uncover the role that students play in bullying and its connection to unhealthy and dangerous behavior. Over 16,000 students participated in the study consisting of African American and Caucasian students finding that there was a positive relationship between bullying and illegal behavior among African American males. It was also found that adolescents who are victims or perpetrators of bullying have difficulty expressing emotions in an appropriate manner.

Ryan et al. (2013) analyzed whether adolescents who were victims of child abuse and neglect were likely to engage in repeated criminal behavior in spite of the consequences faced in Washington State. Records such as child welfare records, arrest records and delinquency records were obtained via a data sharing agreement. The data sharing agreement suspended the issue of confidentiality of youth records in the State of Washington between January 1, 2000 and December 31, 2009. The study consisted of over 250,000 adolescents with an ethnic background of African American, Hispanic, White, Asian, and American Indian (Ryan et al.). The goal of the study was to examine family relationships to see if it played a role in repeated criminal behavior by adolescents.

The results showed that adolescents who were involved in gangs and abused substances had a higher likelihood of committing a crime in comparison to adolescents who were heavily supervised by a trusted adult (Ryan et al.). "Open neglect cases at the time of arrest were at an increased risk of repeated criminal behavior and closed neglect cases with child welfare were at no greater risk of repeated criminal behavior compared with juvenile offenders without a history of neglect" (p. 460). So, is it possible that there is a connection between music listening and criminal behavior?

Impact of Music

Music and Well-Being

There is no doubt that music has an important role in the lives of adolescents (Wells & Hakanen, 1991). A teenager's preference for a certain genre of music may be associated with certain levels of behavior, but researchers continue to study the association between music and violent behavior (Council of Communications and Youth, 2009). What is clear is that adolescents use music to gain control of their emotions (Council of Communications and Youth). Female adolescents are more likely to listen to music for emotional support than male adolescents (American Academy of Pediatrics, 2003; Saarikallio, 2006). In contrast, male adolescents are more likely to seek music as support to gain energy or express themselves in a positive manner and not resort to violence (American Academy of Pediatrics, 2009). Adolescents have learned to use music to regulate anger, but it is unclear whether they use it to modify mood (American Academy of Pediatrics). In contrast, the results of the study showed that adolescents' start to use numerous coping strategies beginning at the age of fifteen and continue to use

the strategies that are effective in their way of living (Saarikallio). In this process, music can be an effective therapeutic activity. The results were also similar with youth between the ages of 11 and 16 who were diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Rickson, 2006) finding that adolescents who received music therapy treatment experienced improvements in restless behavior and hyperactivity upon completion of treatment.

North and Hargreaves (2000) explored the impact of music on pro-social behavior in a health club and discovered that members of the health club were likely to engage in helping behavior if the music being played was positive and uplifting. Greitemeyer (2009) conducted four studies to answer the question of whether pro-social songs increased helping behavior and task completion among first-year college students in the United Kingdom, Germany and Sussex. Participants who listened to pro-social music were able to remain focused on completing tasks and engaged in helping behavior.

Similarly, researchers have explored the effects of music on memory. Martin and Metha (1997) organized a study that explored the effects of music on helping individuals remember childhood activities. Music influenced the number of happy memories that individuals recalled from their life. Bouhuys et al. (1995) reported that participants in his study who heard a sad song recalled situations when they were depressed or felt rejected.

Music therapy has been viewed as an effective approach to increase self-empowerment (DeCarlo & Hockman, 2003). The music can be therapeutic for individuals by helping them to relax and be calm (Schafer et al., 2013). Hadley and Yancy (2008) reported that music is the type of approach that can be used to express self

when words are not enough or does not convey the actual meaning. A study conducted by Gooding and Mori-Inoue (2011) consisted of fifty-one music therapy students from a university who listened to or watched the Rascal Flats, What Hurts the Most with the goal to address the topic of grieving the loss of a loved one. There were no significant differences between the audio and visual group with regards to how they felt about the song and members of both groups identified the song as an appropriate song to address the loss of a loved one (Gooding & Mori-Inoue). Thomas (2011) added that it is not unusual for children to use music and writing to express themselves when they may feel uncomfortable sharing thoughts or information with parents. Dalton and Krout (2006) conducted a pilot study on using song creation to help adolescents through the process of grieving the loss of a loved one. Pre-test and a post-test analyses were used with the use of the Grief Processing Scale to measure any differences before and after the music therapy intervention. Participants were between the ages of 12 and 18 and chosen based on the recent loss of a loved one. It was requested that students create songs that expressed their thoughts about the person they missed. Scores on the Grief Processing Scale improved at the time of therapy termination and enjoyed the process of creating songs about their loved one. The use of music as a therapeutic approach can create dialogue between the adolescent and the adult about the song. It can serve as a therapeutic alternative when interacting with children when talking simply is not enough.

Rap Music

Rap Music Adolescent Listeners

Although rap music listeners vary based on ethnic background, African American adolescents have stated that they connect to the genre of music (Iwamoto et al., 2007). Ross (1994) stated that rap music has been considered as the first form of African American music to push the envelope of what is considered appropriate or controversial. Consequently, African American adolescent rap listeners connect their way of thinking and living by listening to rap music and being a part of the hip hop culture (Elligan, 2004). Numerous studies support the connection that African Americans feel when listening to rap music and how it gives them a sense of belonging or feeling as if they are understood (Brown, 2006; DeCarlo & Hockman, 2003; Dyson, 2001; Hakvoort, 2015; Kitwana, 2002; Tyson, 2002). DeCarlo and Hockman reported that formation of identity and increases in self-esteem play a major role in development among African American adolescents.

Certain questions arise with critics of rap music (Kircheimer, 2003). One question is "what is the reason for the listening of secular rap music?" Some findings from previous research suggested that the genre of rap music gives adolescent listeners a feeling of belonging while rap artists feel that they have an open outlet to express themselves about the conditions of where they come from (Dyson, 2001; Rose, 2008). In the world of rap music, an artist who has been a victim of violence, witness violence, possess a criminal record and possess a rags to riches story is popular with adolescents (Hadley & Yancy, 2012; Laiho, 2004; North & Hargreaves, 2000). When listening to

popular mainstream rap artists, the African American adolescent may discover that he or she is not alone in experiencing similar conditions as the artist (Hadley & Yancy; Kobin & Tyson, 2007).

Often, African American adolescent rap listeners understand the language being used by rap artists in the songs (Alim & Pennycook, 2007; Dyson, 2001). Terms such as "chopper," "hot boys," or "Magnolia" tend to be familiar to residents of New Orleans and surrounding communities and represent the fact that different cities in the United States create their own terms or sayings (Alim & Pennycook).

During adolescence, African American teenagers want to feel as if they are a part of something. In contrast, rap music plays a significant role in the lives of African American adolescents, but differently (Dyson, 2001; Elligan, 2004). The factors that may determine how much of a role may be determined by how much of a role that the parents play in their lives, whether they are from a rural or urban community and school (Brown, 2006; Sue, 2006). So, how did we arrive to this point with rap music?

Brief History of Rap Music

Rap music started to gain momentum in the late 1960s and early 1970s in New York City (Elligan). The Last Poets were making rap music in the late 1960s with an emphasis of educating black individuals, but was not popular among fans (Hadley & Yancy, 2008). One of the founding members of The Last Poets, Jalal Nuriddin, also known as Lightnin' Rod, released an album called "Hustlers' Convention" and was popular with spoken word fans (Wiggs, 2007). The Last Poets were one of the first rap groups who used spoken word with instrumental music and paved the way for artists such

as Gang Starr, A Tribe Called Quest, De La Soul and others to combine spoken word with jazz (Wiggs). The Last Poets are considered to be one of the "godfathers of hip hop" (Assembler, 2011). At this time, disco music started to lose its flavor and individuals were looking for strategies to "get the party going" (Hadley & Yancy). As a result, DJ Kool Herc and DJ Hollywood came up with an idea to "get the party going" by taking records out and spinning them on a turntable at clubs and parties (George, 1998). Some rap historians have considered DJ Kool Herc and DJ Hollywood as the creators of rap music (George, 1998; Rose, 2008). In 1979, producer Sylvia Robinson would produce what is known as the first platinum rap song called "Rapper's Delight" by the Sugar Hill Gang (Rhodes, 1993; Rose). The song was rapped over a beat from the song, "Good Times" by Chic (Rose). In addition, there was an artist named Afrika Bambaata, who was a former gang member, who was known mostly as a DJ who would spin records on the turntable (Hager, 1984). Bambaata's ultimate goal was to bring diverse cultures together through his music and this could be heard in his records during this era (Rhodes). These three events were responsible for helping rap music gain traction.

In the 1980s, rap music was not only used to "get the party going," but it was also used to report on issues that took place in urban areas (Chang, 2005). This "Message" was made clear by Grandmaster Flash whose goal with this song was to report to listeners about what was taking place in the urban areas (Elligan, 2004). Another song produced by Sylvia Robinson was a hit called Whites Lines (Don't Do It) by Grandmaster Flash and Melle Mel (Rhodes). The goal of the song was to discourage individuals from using drugs (Elligan; Hadley & Yancy, 2012). These songs helped to pave the way for artists

such as N.W.A, Ice-T, Public Enemy, and others who expressed what was happening in these areas (Rose). In the mid-1980s, Run DMC became popular with the song, "Walk This Way," which combined elements of pop, rock, and rap (George, 1998). With rap music becoming popular, MTV created the idea of having a show that played nothing but rap music called "Yo, MTV Raps." This show helped known rappers and up and coming rappers to receive attention for their music (Rose). This was also the time that gangsta rap started gaining momentum in the world with its violent and profanity-laced lyrics. Gangsta rap became controversial for its themes and content, but boosted record sales of rap music because of the curiosity of individuals (Rose). Another portion of rap that became popular was a technique called sampling (Hager, 1984). Sampling was a technique in which artists would take the beat from another individual's song and create a rap song (Hager; Elligan; Rose). This situation led to the creation of copyright laws to ease the use of taking another artist's beat without the permission of its owner (Rose).

An ongoing myth about rap music is that only African-Americans can rap. This is further from the truth because Bob Dylan (1965) rapped on his song called "Subterranean Homesick Blues". In addition, Henry and Stein (1981) rapped on a song called "Rapture." Pomeroy (1982) wrote a song for the Beastie Boys with their first rap album entitled "Cooky Puss." Currently, Detroit rapper, Eminem is considered one of the most known non-African American rap artist to be in the rap music genre (Elligan).

Moreover, it was also a myth that females could not rap. In the mid-1980s, Salt-N-Pepa was the first female rap band and released the song, "The Show Stoppa," which was a major success (Elligan). The success of Salt-N-Pepa paved the way for other female artists such as Queen Latifah, Monie Love, Lil' Kim, and Foxy Brown (Elligan).

One major trend in the 2000s changed the rap game. The arrival of Hispanic-Americans expanded the genre to consist of Latino influences, which increased the popularity of reggaeton music (Ilich, 2017). This genre consisted of artists such as Daddy Yankee and N.O.R.E (Ilich). Another important development was the emergence of Conscious Rap, which consisted of artists such as Common, Talib Kweli, B.O.B and Lupe Fiasco (Elligan). Rap music has come a long way from being a simple form of expression in the 1970s to currently being a multi-billion dollar industry (Elligan). It also has changed from being music with a theme of partying to themes of empowerment, violence, coping with death, sex, and establishing peace. From the 1970s to the 1990s, rap songs were heard only intermittently on the radio and seen on television to being played on the radio and seen on television heavily on a daily basis (George, 1998; Rhodes, 1993; Rose, 2008). Rap music is now the most popular form of music to be heard on the radio and seen on television (Elligan; Hadley & Yancy, 2012). With rap music's popularity and diverse styles, it became necessary to separate the numerous genres of rap music into categories (Elligan, 2004).

The Categories of Rap Music

There are 6 types of rap music. With the 6 types of rap music, it can sometimes be difficult to pinpoint the type of genre that the artist is rapping in because it can change from time to time. At one moment, Nas can create a positive rap song and then make a gangsta rap song in another moment. At the same time, the average individual can not

compare the type of rap that LeCrae makes to what Kevin Gates makes, it is different and that is the essence of rap music. It is about embracing the differences and identifying those differences via categories. The first category within rap music, which can arguably be the most commonly heard rap music on the radio today is sexual rap.

Sexual Rap

Mathis (2005) reported about rap music genre known as sexual rap. Sexual rap is a rap music genre with an emphasis of sexual behavior. Some rap artists that engage in this genre include Lil' Wayne, Drake, French Montana, Nicki Minaj, Lil' Kim, Plies, Ty Dolla Sign, YG and Rick Ross. Often, the message in sexual rap is to boast about the sexual escapades of the particular artist. Most of these artists fail to mention the importance of using protection before engaging in this behavior (Miranda & Claes, 2004) when it is important to prevent sexually transmitted diseases.

Positive Rap

The purpose of positive rap is to promote positive messages within the rap songs (Elligan). Positive rap could promote family values, healthy eating, keeping it real, being creative, or falling in love. Artists who engage in positive rap include A Tribe Called Quest, Will Smith, Lauryn Hill, The Roots, Bahamadia, Digable Planets, Hammer, Black Eyed Peas and Childish Gambino. Positive rap does not receive as much attention as gangsta rap and materialistic rap, which will be discussed below (Elligan). Some songs in this genre include Cool Like That by Digable Planets in 1992, and Just the Two of Us by Will Smith in 1998 (Elligan).

Political Rap

Similar to positive rap, there is political rap which is about promoting positive messages, but taking a political stance on issues. Elligan wrote that political rap was "created from the music of Gil Scott Heron and the Last Poets in the late 1970s and early 1980s" (p. 39). The popularity of political rap came in the 1980s with KRS's Stop the Violence Movement group in 1986, Public Enemy's message to Fight the Power in 1989, and Sister Souljah's message to blacks that we are at war in 1989. Elligan wrote that political rap highlights the importance of rap music being educational by rapping about topics that have never been explored. Some rappers have mentioned that the rap game is not what it used to be because it only focuses on obtaining wealth and being a gangsta (Kubrin, 2005). Yes, most political rappers speak out about issues affecting today's culture and are known for their political views within their songs. Common discussed this situation on the song, "I Used to Love Her" off the CD, Can I Borrow a Dollar (1992).

Spiritual Rap

Then, there is spiritual rap that highlights the importance of religion and spirituality. Spiritual rap combines elements of rap music with gospel music to attract youth listeners (Elligan, 2004). An artist who has managed to incorporate gospel music with rap music is Kirk Franklin. Pastor and artist Kirk Franklin made headlines in the late 1990s when he had a song called "Stomp" and "it featured Salt of Salt N' Pepa" (1996). Joseph Simmons, who is better known as Run/Rev. Run, left Run DMC to devote time to God, but put out a spiritual rap CD entitled Distortion in 2005 (Rose,

2008). Some rappers created songs in the spiritual rap genre such as DMX, Common, Bone Thugs N' Harmony and P. Diddy (Elligan).

The most common forms of rap that are being heard on the radio include gangsta rap, materialistic rap and sexual rap.

Gangsta Rap

Gangsta rap is rap music that discusses topics such as violence, and crime (George, 1998). Some of the artists that engage in this genre include NWA, Snoop Dogg, Meek Mill, Young Jeezy, YG, Rick Ross and 50 Cent. Gangsta rap was created in low-income communities that are affected by higher rates of violence, death, poverty, low self-esteem and lack of access to resources in comparison to high-income communities (George). Elligan (2004) reported that gangsta rap received widespread attention in the 1990s with some events such as the Rodney King beating by Los Angeles police, the release of Ice T's song Cop Killer, the rise and the fall of Suge Knight's Death Row Record Company, the introduction of the Parental Advisory Explicit Lyrics label and the death of 2 Pac and the Notorious BIG.

Materialistic Rap

Elligan explained that there is rap that focuses on materials and wealth called materialistic rap. Rappers known in the genre include Nicki Minaj, Kanye West, Lil' Wayne, Rick Ross, 2 Chainz, Kirko Bangz, Cashin' Out and Jay-Z. Most rappers engage in materialistic rap to express the items they possess and how they currently live. Some people claim that materialistic rap is much easier to listen to than gangsta rap because it is not glorifying violence (Elligan). With rap music emphasizing the goal of becoming rich

by whatever means necessary, it conveys to children that you will not be hip if you don't wear the best clothes or speak the language and possibly lower self-esteem in some children (Berry, 1990). Most of these artists who engage in materialistic rap fail to mention that they obtain the wealth through hard work (Elligan).

With the numerous genres within rap music, it is difficult for critics to say that every genre in rap music possesses themes of sex and violence within music. Critics would be correct if they mentioned that gangsta rap, materialistic rap and sexual rap are the only forms of rap they hear on the radio and it consisted of inappropriate themes for children (Council on Communications and Media, 2009), but not all of rap music. Rap music is a diverse genre of music and adolescents of diverse backgrounds listen to the genre (Binder, 1993; Mathis, 2006; Elligan; Lightstone, 2012; Hicks-Harper et al.). It remains a question of how rap music affects the well-being of African American adolescents and the kind of purpose it serves in the lives of teenagers. Although rap music is being heard on the radio and seen on television, what role is it playing regarding the well-being of individuals?

Rap Music and Well-Being

Rap music has been around for over 40 years and it has positive and negative features that must be explored. Robertson (2002) wrote a book entitled *Natural Prozac* where he emphasized that music can alter the brain and influence music selection choices when progressing through troubling situations in life. Rap music appears to be an effective form of expression.

Therapy using rap music is beginning to receive attention. DeCarlo and Hockman (2003) organized a study to compare the effectiveness of rap therapy with cognitive-behavioral therapy with 21 adolescents in a mid-western city. The results of the study showed that participants view rap therapy favorably when topics of anger management and impulse control were being discussed in sessions. Tyson (2002) conducted a qualitative pilot study that examined the advantages of using rap music when counseling youth. Members approved of the use of rap music in group counseling sessions to process emotions and feelings of youth (Tyson).

Evans (2010) completed a case study of a 13-year old boy diagnosed with conduct disorder and rap music was used as an approach to build a relationship with the client and to examine behavioral difficulties. The client was referred for treatment because of his disruptive behavior in the classroom and at home. In a follow-up, the client's mother reported that the client was getting better by improving academically and not being as disruptive at school prior to treatment. The client's mother also reported that the client found the sessions to be useful to express his anger.

Anger and anxiety were two issues explored using rap therapy in a juvenile detention center with ten adolescents (Ierardi & Jenkins, 2012). When rap therapy was used as the approach, adolescents had feelings of confidence and a reduction of vulnerability because they were able to express their thoughts and emotions in a song and in a safe environment. Furthermore, rap music was shown to help adolescents express emotions relating to the loss of a friend or members of their family (Ahmadi & Oosthuizen, 2008). Within the group session, some of the activities included listening to

rap songs, learning how to play instruments and the creation of rap songs. Following the therapy sessions, the group members shared that they were able to discuss freely issues that impacted their lives and the sense of anger and sadness felt because their loved ones let them down through the avenue of rap music.

In order to measure the relationship between hip hop exposure and perceptions and school outcomes, 351 African American and Latino adolescents were recruited for a study (Tyson et al., 2012). The participants were primarily female students. School outcomes were measured by obtaining school records of the students' previous year final GPA and the number of times they were suspended from school. Students were also requested to complete the RAP scale and questions relating to the amount of time they spent listening to rap music. The results of the study showed that there was no relationship between grades and listening to misogynistic lyrics, but there was a relationship between high scores on the RAP empowerment scale and school attendance.

Despite the limited research on the effectiveness of rap music, some artists in the genre have produced content that is not about sex and violence, and have not received positive attention for this act. One of the strategies used by the media is to play only songs that emphasize the misogynistic and violent nature of rap music (Douglas et al., 1997). Dyson (2001) has praised the musical genre for its form of expression about the issues surrounding the African American community and society. Positive lyrics and themes can be found in rap music that is performed by artists that individuals enjoy, but may go unrecognized by critics (Tyson, 2002). Rap artists discussed the importance that the mother played in their life (Oware, 2011). Kanye West rapped on "Hey Mama" that

he was proud of his mother and strived to protect her from harm. The song comes from Kanye's CD, Late Registration (West & Leace, 2005). Miami rapper, Rick Ross wrote a song called "I'm Only Human", which described that his mother worked three jobs to make sure he was taken care of as a child. I'm Only Human was taken from Rick Ross' CD, Trilla (Ross, 2008). On the CD, The Carter III, New Orleans rapper, Lil' Wayne talked about confronting the individual who mistreated his mother on the song "Playing With Fire." Tupac also paid tribute to his mother on the song, Dear Mama off of his CD, Me Against the World (Dyson, 2001).

Moreover, rappers emphasized that they are about taking care of their children. Atlanta based rapper Young Jeezy wrote that he was not proud of his children wanting expensive items, but does what he can to see to it that they have the finer things in life on "My President" from the Recession (2008) CD. St. Louis rapper, Nelly rapped that my children know that I love them on "Die for You" from the Suit (2004) CD.

Oware (2011) discovered that some rap artists expressed positive views about marriage. Compton rapper, The Game expressed appreciation of his wife for coming to visit him while he was in prison on the song, Don't Worry, which was taken from The Documentary (2005) CD. Another rapper that expressed positive views about marriage was Nas. Nas released the song, Getting Married, which comes off his Street Disciple (2004) CD visualizes getting married. The song was close to Nas' heart because he got married at the time that the CD was recorded, but now he and his wife are divorced. Rappers emphasized the importance of being a good father to their children and adored their mothers for the hardships they had to face raising them on their own.

Although the use of rap music has been viewed to be an effective approach to working with adolescents (Tyson, 2002), rap music is also being viewed as music that has destroyed the values of what is right and wrong that influence pro-social behavior (Brown, 2006). Research supports the claim that rap influences youth behavior (Kirchheimer, 2003). Wingood et al. (2003) conducted a study on African American female teenagers of their degree of exposure to rap videos and whether it influenced unhealthy behavior. They found that African American female teenagers who were heavily exposed to rap videos were likely to engage in unhealthy behavior such as use of alcohol, drugs and unprotected sexual behavior. Litman (1997) also found that adolescent males who listened to violent themes in rap music engaged in aggressive behavior while playing table hockey. Gender differences were noted when the effects of sexual rap music was explored related to adolescent behavior finding that males were not influenced to behave in an inappropriate sexual manner when listening to the music, while females were offended by the lyrics and felt influenced to engage in inappropriate sexual behavior (McLean, 1997). Some artists emphasize that they are just "keeping it real" about what is going on in today's society (Ogbar, 2010). It is not questionable that rap music has created a buzz among adolescents and programs have been created to capitalize on its success among adolescents to help them improve in life.

Programs and Organizations That Promote Knowledge Using Rap Music

Numerous programs have been created with the goal of educating youth through rap music. In order to educate youth about HIV and substance abuse, an after-school program known as H2P was created outside Washington DC (Hicks-Harper et al., 2007)

and individuals were trained as H2P instructors. Another program based out of San Francisco used rap music to prevent youth from engaging in a life of crime (Clay, 2006). Moreover, Haaken, Wallin-Ruschman and Patange (2011) organized a hip-hop program called Moving to the Beat (M2B) where youth learned about topics of poverty and AIDS and were able to express their views through writing and music. Cella et al. (1992) organized a smoking prevention program that used rap music as an approach to teach elementary school children about the health risks associated with smoking. During evaluation, students reported that they enjoyed the sessions because of its use of rap music to talk about the hazardous effects of smoking. Gordon (2011) reported that Flocabulary, a rap duo that creates academic CDs using rap music, organized a program in the early 2000s entitled The Word Up Project with the assistance of the Educational Research Institute of America. Students were accepted into this program based on grades and previous results on practice reading tests. In one of the studies, over 1,200 middle school students from schools in the mid-west participated in this project where rap music was used to educate students on vocabulary words and the development of reading comprehension skills. Numerous examinations were given to students twice a month to measure progress of students. Furthermore, students were required to take state tests after completion of the program to help build vocabulary and reading comprehension skills. The results of the study showed that students who used the program improved their vocabulary skills and performed better on the state reading tests (Gordon). A gap in these programs is that qualitative interviews were not available to show the effectiveness

and benefits of these programs. Surprisingly, some programs and foundations have been created or led by rap artists who may be known for inappropriate themes in their music.

Rap Artists Who Use Fame to Promote Society and Community Needs

A positive aspect of rap music is that the rappers are able to give back to the community and educate others about the importance of succeeding in life. Some rap artists have used their business knowledge, along with the enormous possibilities of rap music to advocate and support community causes (Bozza, 2001). One example is that Dr. Dre donated \$1 million to the World Trade Center Relief Fund (Rose, 2008). Also, Jermaine Dupri helped to create Hip Hop for Humanity, which was a non-profit organization dedicated to helping families who lost loved ones in the September 11th attacks (Rose). Another instance of the good that rap artists do for their community is when St. Louis rapper, Chingy created the Chingy for Change whose goal is to send students to college who don't have enough money (Rose). He also takes the time to visit schools to rap to the children that there is a way to succeed and not engage in a life of crime. Moreover, Atlanta rapper Ludacris created the Ludacris Foundation with the goal to encourage children to never forget about the individuals who helped them to succeed beyond their wildest dreams (Rose). The act of giving back is a powerful activity within the black community and can be traced back to times of segregation where members raised money with the goal of improving conditions within their neighborhood (Rose). The reason for the highly publicized activity with the African American community was to make it known that there was a lack of equality to access resources available that support and promote employment, financial aid and food assistance (Rose).

Conclusion

African American adolescents learn how to survive through activities that take place in the home and their surrounding community. The environment can consist of violence, healthy relationships with family and neighbors, or substance abuse. Whatever the case, these incidents help to form the identities of African American adolescents. In addition, they may help to explain the function of rap music in the lives of African American adolescents and the possible need for using the genre as a coping mechanism.

Listeners of rap music may see themselves as having obstacles to overcome to succeed in life. When listening to rap music, individuals may feel empowered, a part of the popular crowd and intelligent because they are learning from someone who has been through what they have and how to survive in the struggle. Also, rap music may help African American adolescents to feel energized or be entertained. The present study seeks to add to the literature about the relationship between rap music on the well-being of adolescents specifically its role in the lives of African American adolescents. Some gaps in the literature is the very few research studies available on the relationship between rap music on African American adolescents and their well-being, and qualitative or quantitative results about their perceptions of rap music. The studies also focus on urban African American adolescents. Few studies were available that focused on the type of rap music that they listen to if they frequently listen to the musical genre. Therefore, the present study seeks to explore the perception of African American adolescents about rap music and the following chapter will expound upon the methodology used to obtain the results.

Chapter Three: Methodology

Research Questions

This study asked four questions concerning rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents. For the quantitative portion of the study, there were two research questions: (1) What relationship does rap music have to the well-being of adolescents? and (2) What is the attitude and perception of African American adolescents about rap music? The qualitative approach consisted of two additional research questions: (3) What function does rap music serve in the lives of African American adolescents in this study; and (4) What type of rap music songs promote psychological support for African American adolescents?

Method

Participants

The total number of participants in the study was 14 individuals. The participants in the study ranged in age from 14 to 17. The age group was chosen because the variances of opinions concerning rap music among adolescents may be smaller due to their age, but large enough to possibly form a significant relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of adolescents. Two participants were excluded from the study for not meeting the appropriate age requirements. The study consisted of African American male and female students from an urban area in the Mid-Atlantic

region(8 females and 6 males). Participants who identified themselves as African on the demographic questionnaire were eligible to participate in the study. The study took place during a fourteen month period and individual interview sessions lasted between one to two hours. Pseudonyms were used in place of real names to protect participants' identities. The participants' pseudonyms were Chris, Nelson, Tamar, Sadie, Erica, Tim, Jamilah, Kevin, Shannon, Mariah, Tika, Shomari, Tanya and Khamani.

Sampling Procedure

Purposeful sampling was used in this study. Purposeful sampling is the type of sampling used when the sample possesses important information and it can be useful to explain a phenomenon of interest (Patton, 2002). Purposeful sampling also consists of a specific population to be studied (Patton). In this study, the phenomenon that was studied was rap music and the specific population was African American adolescents. In addition, snowball sampling was used in which the Program Director suggested students within the program who may be eligible and willing to participate in the study.

Setting

The study took place at a non-profit; community-based mentoring organization within a major metropolitan city in the Mid-Atlantic region. The goal of the program was to keep youth engaged in school and out of trouble. The program was created in 2004 with ten students in an after-school program devoted to acting and theater. The program consisted of forty-five high school students. Through the program, individuals developed leadership skills, advocacy and life skills through mentoring and peer relationships to prepare for life after high school. Over eighty percent of students in this program have

graduated from high school with a diploma in four years in comparison to the city-wide average of 63% and the average graduation rate of 45% at their schools (Unchained Talent Fact Sheet, 2014). Eighty percent of teenagers who were in this program and did not graduate from high school made the choice to work and earn a GED, or return to high school to earn a diploma (Unchained Talent Fact Sheet). Students in the program met for three hours Monday through Friday in a safe environment where they freely expressed themselves and their passions. The program taught students to express themselves through art but also taught discipline and literacy.

Measures

The following three instruments were employed in the study for the purpose of finding out the relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents.

Perceptions and Attitudes About Rap Music

The Rap Music Attitudes and Perceptions (RAP) Scale (Tyson, 2007) was "an 18item self-report instrument that measures the attitudes and perceptions of youth about rap
music, with each items presented in a 5-point Likert-type scale (1=strongly disagree,
2=disagree, 3=neutral, 4=agree, and 5=strongly agree)" (Tyson, 2007, p. 215). The RAP
Scale yielded responses in these areas: seven items measuring empowerment ("Some rap
music can uplift and empower people"), seven items related to violent-misogynistic
content ("Most rap music suggests that women are just for male sexual satisfaction"), and
four items about artistic-esthetic content ("Most rappers have creative intelligence,
reflected in their ability to rap"). When the RAP scale was used for a previous study, the

internal consistency was .90. The internal consistency reliability was conducted using a convenient sample of 605 young college students. A score between 0 and 22 on the scales meant that the individual has an unfavorable view of rap music, a score between 23 and 44 means the individual does not exactly like or dislike rap music, and a score between 45 and 68 meant the individual has positive beliefs about rap music. A copy of the scale is available in the Appendices (see Appendix C).

Well-Being Manifestation Measure Scale

The Well-Being Manifestation Measure (WBMMS) Scale (Masse et al., 1998) was "a 25-item self-report instrument that measured psychological well-being. Masse et al. found an overall Cronbach's alpha of .93 for the questionnaire and the subscales ranged in reliability between .71 and .85. The scale originally was tailored to the elderly population, but the scaled was shortened by the creators to be suited to the adolescent population and to reduce completion time of the scale. The scale consisted of five items pertaining to happiness ("I felt that others loved me and appreciated me"), five items concerned self-esteem ("I had self-confidence"), five items were about mental balance ("I felt emotionally balanced"), five items dealt with sociability ("I got along well with everyone around me"), five items were about social involvement ("I was curious and interested in all sorts of things), and five questions measured sense of control of self and events ("I was able to face difficult situations in a positive way). A copy of the scale is available in the Appendices (see Appendix D).

Interview Protocol

The interview questions were partially derived from Tyson's (2007) Rap Music Attitudes and Perceptions Scale and modified by the lead researcher in this study (see Appendix D) based on the desire to know the detailed reasons that they listened to rap music and its benefits in their lives. Also, the interviews were semi-structured and the purpose was to explore the relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents. The interview process was guided by open-ended questions that led to the thoughts of adolescents about rap music. Participants' responses about rap music was probed by the interviewer with the goal of encouraging detailed responses of adolescents on their perception and meaning of rap music. The kinds of question asked included (e.g. "What are your personal feelings about rap music" and Can you think about a time when rap music has been helpful or not helpful for you?") (see Appendix D). There were questions about demographics (see Appendix B). Prior to completion of the interview, the researcher read from a script to recruit participants for the study (see Appendix E).

Procedure

Various methods were used to recruit participants in the mentoring program. This program meets with students once a week for two hours after school in which the Program Director and staff of the program meet and work with the teenagers throughout the school year. The mentoring program sessions took place at the organization which is based within the community of the major metropolitan city in the Mid-Atlantic. The researcher met with the Program Director and was allowed to make a presentation to the

group of students in the mentoring program (see Appendix F). The mentoring sessions took place one day out of the week at the organization.

During the speech to the parents and students at the organization, they were informed that the teenagers were required to complete a scale on their thoughts of rap music and a scale that measured their sense of happiness and social skills. In addition, the researcher explained that the two interview sessions would last for 1-2 hours sessions and the researcher asked participants a series of questions about their thoughts of rap music. Following the speech about the study, parents and students were given assent and consent forms to be taken home for them to complete and return prior to their teenager participating in study on rap music. It was explained that individuals who were not between the ages of 14 and 17 and did not identify themselves as African American were not eligible for this study because the study was about African American adolescents between the ages of 14 and 17. Furthermore, the researcher informed the students that the interviews were going to be taped and they can withdraw from the study or discontinue their participation in the study at any time without any penalty. Participant information and their responses were kept confidential. Casual letters about the study were distributed to the students. Participants received a \$10 gift card for their participation in the study.

Prior to the start of each interview session, the researcher explained to participants that the sessions were going to be taped. The information discussed in sessions were kept confidential. The researcher gave participants blank name plates and markers for them to write their first name or name they would like to be called during the sessions and the

name they placed on scales. Next, the participants were given a demographics questionnaire designed by the researcher, the Rap Music Attitudes and Perceptions Scale and the Well-Being Manifestation Scale. Once the questionnaires were completed, they were placed in a brown envelope. The interviews were recorded via the Sony digital recorder and the recorder was also placed in the brown envelope. The brown envelope was placed in my book bag, which were zipped up and placed in the front of me during the interview where I was the only one to have access to it. Following the interviews for the day, the book bag was taken home and the brown envelope with the completed surveys and the digital recorder was placed in a file cabinet in my room with a combination to open, which was only opened by the researcher.

After the participants completed the paperwork, the participants were asked a series of questions concerning rap music which included: (1) What are your personal feelings about rap music? (2) What has rap music taught you about life? (3) What is it about rap music that draws your attention and interest? Interviews took place at the organization site of the mentoring program.

Data Analysis

Quantitative analysis. The first research question was: (1) What is the relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents? In order to analyze the relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents, the results from the RAP Scale and the Well-Being Manifestation Measure Scale were analyzed using the Pearson's Correlation to determine the relationship between rap music and psychological

well-being. The second research question was: (2) What is the attitude and perception of African American adolescents about rap music? The attitudes and perceptions of rap music was measured using the Chi-Square by analyzing the percentage and number of participants who had a negative view of rap music, an average view of rap music or a positive view of rap music based on responses from the RAP Scale.

Qualitative analysis. For the qualitative portion of the study, semi-structured interviews were performed to answer the research questions concerning: (1) What function does rap music serve in the lives of African American adolescents? (2) What kinds of rap music songs promote psychological support among African American adolescents? In addition, numerous questions within the interview were asked concerning the participants' attitudes and perceptions about rap music. The interview questions were partially derived from Tyson's (2007) Rap Music Attitudes and Perceptions Scale and modified by the lead researcher in this study (see Appendix D) based on the desire to know the detailed reasons that they listen to rap music and its benefits in their lives. The interview tapes were transcribed by the researcher. Analysis of the interviews consisted of studying the complete interview transcripts and of organizing them into groups by rap music's influence on well-being and attitudes and perceptions about rap music (Corbin & Strauss, 2007). Prior to analysis, a copy of the transcript was given to participants for review of correct words (Denzin & Lincoln, 2003; Maxwell, 2005). Secondly, the answers pertaining to each focus issue were grouped together and the answers being synthesized (open coding). Next, axial coding was used

to explore how the categories related to the open coded words, texts and statements (Corbin & Strauss; Denzin & Lincoln).

The Research Team

There were three members of the research team, all members were doctoral students, who were pursuing their degrees in counseling, educational psychology and business and had knowledge about coding response procedure and rap music were used to determine the reliability of the coding of the qualitative results. The peer reviewers have completed courses in qualitative research through their doctoral programs and were trained by the researcher to analyze the interviews and determine the themes and content present within the interviews. Inter-coder reliability was used and the themes and codes were completed by the researcher. In addition, there was a review of literature by the researcher and peer reviewers on things surrounding rap music. The analyses examined the interview protocol and participant responses to the interview questions.

Multiple reviews of the transcribed data took place between the researcher and the peer reviewers to obtain the exact perception of participants about rap music. Open coding was used to simplify the statements of the participant interviews (Denzin & Lincoln, 2003). Axial coding was also used to explore how the themes and categories created connected to the open-coded texts and statements by participants (Denzin & Lincoln). During the review of the transcribed data, action words such as "relax", or "calm" were highlighted, underlined, written as a side note or given a score as it was pertaining to the function of rap music in the lives of participants. In addition, action words such as "encouraging the degrading of women", "encouraging the engagement of

violence", "increasing sexual behavior", or "encouraging me to get into a relationship were highlighted, underlined, written as a side note or given a score as it was pertaining to behaviors from listening to rap music. As the data was being reviewed, the data started to reveal themes and categories addressed in the literature review section. The reviewers reviewed the data independently and then we had multiple meetings and telephone conferences about the reviews to discuss themes generated individually from the data. Afterwards, the reviewers and the researcher deliberated until agreement was reached about the themes. Through multiple meetings and telephone conferences, six major thematic categories emerged from the data. When calculating inter-rater reliability (percent agreement) between the three reviewers, the results showed a 84% rate of agreement, which is considered to be good for qualitative methodology and valid for other research studies pertaining to the topic of rap music.

Six major thematic categories were created from the participants' interview responses: (1) Providing Emotional Support; (2) Influencing Good and Bad Behavior Within Society; (3) Influencing Attitudes and Perceptions; (4) Promoting What Appears to Be Cool and Authentic to the Listener; (5) Promoting Diverse Styles Within the Rap Music Genre; and (6) Promoting Support Among Music.

Providing Emotional Support Category comprised of how rap music functioned in the lives of participants. Influencing Behavior Category included how rap music degrades women and can change the perspective on how they think of anything.

Promoting What Appears to be Cool and Authentic Category meant that some artists are not being truthful about what they have in life or what they have done in their live.

Promoting Diverse Styles within the Rap Music Genre Category was considered to be individuals who may prefer old school rap music or new school rap music. An example of coded data concerning the categories of rap music, quotes and participant responses is presented in Table 7 in Chapter 4 of the Results Section. The data codes are also provided in the Appendix section (see Appendix H).

Research Hypotheses

Pertaining to the quantitative portion of the study, two hypotheses were developed about the final results of the study concerning the relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents: (1) There will be a significant positive relationship between rap music and the well-being of adolescents. (2) African American adolescents in the study will have the attitude and perception that rap music is positive but the songs with themes of sex, drugs and violence are not good themes to hear in the songs.

Chapter Four: Results

This study consisted of four research questions that comprised of both quantitative and qualitative approaches. The quantitative analyses and findings were presented first. The first question was: (1) What is the relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents? This question was analyzed using the participants' scores from the Rap Music Attitudes and Perception Scale and the Well-Being Manifestation Measures Scale using the Pearson's Correlation. The second research question was: (2) What is the attitude and perception of African American adolescents about rap music? The second research question was examined via the quantitative approach using Chi-Square via participants' completion of the Rap Music Attitudes and Perception Scale. The qualitative analyses and findings, which consisted of two additional research questions and data was gathered via interview responses: (3) What function does rap music serve in the lives of African American adolescents; and (4) What kind of rap music promotes psychological support among African American adolescents is presented following the quantitative analysis.

For this study, fourteen (N=14) African American adolescents shared their perceptions about rap music. The data collected from the participants concerned their thoughts about the current and past trends of rap music. Moreover, subjects concerning controversial themes contained in rap music were asked to the participants and their

thoughts about the particular topics were coded and analyzed based on their responses to subjects pertaining to rap music. This chapter provided detailed analyses of the data collected from the fourteen participants about subjects connected to rap music and its influence on their lives.

Quantitative Hypotheses and Analysis

Prior to analyzing whether there was a relationship between rap music and the well-being of African American adolescents, descriptive statistics were used to determine the number of participants in this study, their gender and age. Then, the mean and standard deviation of the Rap Music Attitudes and Perception Scale (RAPS) and the Well-Being Manifestation Measures Scale (WBMMS) were analyzed. In order to evaluate the relationship between rap music and the well-being of African American adolescents for the first research question, a Pearson's Correlation Procedure was performed to determine if there was a significant relationship between the subscales of the RAPS and the WBMMS. Moreover, a Pearson's Correlation Test was performed to examine the participants' scores on the RAPS with psychological well-being.

Afterwards, a Chi-Square Test was used in the study to examine the attitude and perception of participants concerning rap music using results from the RAPS to answer the second research question.

Quantitative Findings and Analyses

Descriptive statistics. Of the fourteen participants, 8 were females and 6 were males. Two participants were 14 years of age, three participants were 15 years of age, three were 16 years of age, and six were 17 years of age (Table 1).

Table 1

Description of the Participants by Age and Gender

Age	Male	Female	Total f(%)	M
	<i>f</i> (%)	<i>f</i> (%)		
14 years	1 (7)	1 (7)	2 (14)	2.93
15 years	2 (11)	1 (11)	3 (22)	
16 years	2 (11)	1 (11)	3 (22)	
17 years	1 (21)	5 (21)	6 (42)	
Total	6 (50)	8 (50)	14 (100)	
Frequencies				
and				
Percentages				

Note. The total frequencies and percentages of age and gender of participants in the study.

Rap Music and Psychological Well-Being

The mean and standard deviation for the RAP Scale is presented in Table 2 and WBMMS is presented in Table 3:

Table 2

Mean and Standard Deviation for Rap Music for Subscale Measures

Instrument	M	SD	n
Subscales			
Empowerment	26.2	6.11	14
Violent-	27.7	7.48	14
Misogynistic			
Artistic-Esthetic	12.57	3.29	14

Note. The instrument subscales of empowerment, violent-misogynistic and artistic-esthetic are subscales for the Rap Music Attitudes and Perceptions Scale (RAP).

Table 3

Mean and Standard Deviation for Psychological Well-Being for Subscale Measures

Instrument	M	SD	n
Subscales			
Self-Esteem	16.4	3.87	14
Happiness	16.0	4.34	14
Sociability	15.5	4.57	14
Social Involvement	17.0	3.12	14
Control of Self and	14.8	3.92	14
Events			
Mental Balance	16.0	3.49	14

Note. The instrument subscales of self-esteem, happiness, sociability, social involvement, control of self and events and mental balance are subscales of the Well-Being Manifestation Measure Scale (WBMMS).

Using Pearson's Correlation to analyze relationship. In order to determine the degree of the relationship, if any, between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents for the first research question, a Pearson's Correlation Test was performed between the subscales of the RAPS and the WBMMS. The subscales of the RAPS served as the independent variable while the subscales of the psychological well-being scale (WBMMS) served as the dependent variable. The study showed that there was no significant relationship between the subscales of rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents using the RAPS and the WBMMS. Thus, the first hypothesis was not supported. The results are presented in Table 4 for the subscales of the RAPS and the WBMMS:

Table 4

Pearson's Correlation for Rap Music Subscales and Psychological Well-Being Subscales

RAP Music Subscales		Psychological Well-Being Measures					
Measures	Self- Esteem	Happiness	Sociability	Social Involvement	Control of Self and Events	Mental Balance	
Violent-	.14	.22	.12	.14	.22	.16	
Misogynistic	.09	.09	.09	.09	.09	.09	
Artistic-	.10	.08	.13	.16	.17	.19	
Esthetic	.09	.09	.09	.09	.09	.09	
Empowerment	.07	.07	.15	.09	.10	.08	
	.09	.09	.09	.09	.09	.09	

Note. A Pearson's Correlation for the subscales of rap music and psychological wellbeing among African American adolescents was performed and no relationship was found between the subscales of rap music and psychological well-being; p>.05. N=14 for all analyses.

Using the overall scores of participants on the RAPS and the WBMMS, a Pearson's Correlation for rap music was also performed with psychological well-being. The data almost produced a significant relationship between rap music and psychological well-being, but did not reach the level to be considered a significant relationship. The results are presented in Table 5.

Table 5

Pearson's Correlation for Scores on Rap Music Scale and Psychological Well-Being

Psychological Well- Being	r	p	n
Attitude and Perception of Rap Music	.305	.095	14

Note. There was no significant relationship between the participants' scores on the RAPS and psychological well-being; r(14)=.305, p>.05.

Using Chi-Square to examine the attitudes and perceptions of adolescents concerning rap music by age. In order to determine the attitudes and perceptions of adolescents about rap music by age for Hypothesis 2, Chi-Square was performed based on the participants' responses from the RAP Scale, which are presented in Table 6.

Table 6

Chi-Square for Adolescents by Age, Attitude and Perception of Rap Music

Perception of Rap	Ag		of Adolescent Participants $f(\%)$			
Music	14 years f (%)	15 years f (%)	16 years f (%)	17 years f (%)	χ^2	Φ
Negative Perception of Rap	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (7%)	6	.26
Music Do not Like or Dislike Rap	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (7%)	0 (0%)		
Music Positive Perception of Rap Music	2 (14%)	3 (21%)	2 (14%)	5 (36%)		

Total 2 (14%) 3 (21%) 3 (21%) 6 (43%)

Note. The percentage of adolescents by age concerning their attitude and perception of rap music showed no significant difference; $\chi^2(6, N = 14) = .26$, p > .05. Therefore, the second hypothesis was not supported.

Qualitative Analysis

Content analysis is a research approach used to decipher content of communication of participants and places responses to items on an instrument into categories (Patton, 2002). Qualitative content analysis focuses on the themes within an interview to explain a particular phenomenon taking place (Patton). Through qualitative content analysis, the qualitative portion of the study examined two additional research questions: (3) What function does rap music serve in the lives of African American adolescents? (4) What rap music songs promote psychological support for African American adolescents? The words from the participants were classified based upon present themes within rap music: emotional support; behavior; authenticity; attitudes and perception; diverse styles and psychological support.

Description of Coding Strategies

The content analysis yielded six themes. The themes were labeled as follows:

Theme 1: Providing Emotional Support consisted of statements such as "it helps me to relax," "it helps me to get through tough times", "it helps to keep me calm", "listen to it depending on my mood", "some music helps me to calm down", or "it pumps me up".

Theme 2: Influencing Behavior Within Society contained statements such as "sometimes it degrades women", or "sometimes it promotes violence." Theme 3: Influencing

Attitudes and Perception consisted of statements such as being "rich to be happy", or "being a rapper is not much hard work". Theme 4: Promoting What Appears To Be Cool and Authentic consisted of statements such as "be real about what you say", "don't talk about something that you have not experienced in life, keep it real", or "you don't have to have a lot of money to be successful in life." Theme 5: Promoting Diverse Styles Within the Rap Music Genre contained statements such as "listening to songs with a good beat" or "liking and listening to mostly old school or new school rap music." Theme 6: Promoting Support Among Rap Music included statements such as "Nas' song, I Know I Can", "2 Pac's song, Keep Your Head Up", or Eminem's song, Survival". Thematic analyses and statements were presented in Table 7.

Qualitative Findings

The qualitative findings yielded six themes within rap music: providing emotional support, influencing behavior; influencing attitudes and perception; promoting what appears to be cool and authentic; promoting diverse styles within the rap music genre; and promoting psychological support among rap music. Participants (N=14) expressed their thoughts and concerns about the genre of rap music through the interview portion of the study. Also, participants (N=14) expressed their thoughts about the possibility of a relationship between rap music and behavior. Some examples of participants' quotes are presented in Table 7.

Theme 1: Providing Emotional Support

The third research question was: (3) What function does rap music serve in the lives of African American adolescents? This question analyzed the participants' view

concerning the function of rap music in their lives and was answered via interview. The majority of the participants (N=12, 86%) talked about rap music as a source of emotional support. Therefore, these results were categorized as Theme 1: Providing Emotional Support. In Theme 1, when asked about the purpose of rap music in life, one female participant had this to say:

The purpose of rap music for me would be to get me through my hard times when I go through them. It also keeps me motivated. Helps me to exercise, with sports, just to be just up and going (Jamilah, age 14).

Thus, this participant shared that the function of rap music was to allow her to cope with stress in her life (Jamilah, age 14). A similar sentiment was shared by another female participant by saying:

I mean rap music is very effective because it helps me to keep very calm and realize that life is not all about a guy. I mean you may be in a relationship, break up with a guy but there is always a next guy (Erica, age 17).

Chris elaborated on rap music in his life in this manner:

Certain rap songs give me a good vibe and place me in a happy place. For instance, Nappy Roots got a song called Good Day. It goes "I am going to have a good day and nobody else is going to die today." The song is an entertaining song to me. You listen to it when you are having a bad day and you say to yourself I got to change my day around. You know you don't want to have a bad day, but your day can be worse. Listening to some rappers can make your day worse because it may influence you to do some things that rappers rap about but don't do. (Chris, age 17)

These statements from the participants suggest that adolescents listen to rap music for entertainment and to help cope with life's challenges.

Theme 2: Influencing Behavior Within Society

Another theme that emerged from the data was rap music influencing behavior within society (*N*=14; 100%), which was categorized as Theme 2: Influencing Behavior Within Society. The majority of participants talked about how rap music influenced behavior. For example, a participant mentioned:

Rap music can change somebody's perspective on anything they think of like it could change their actions quickly. (Khamani, age 15)

Khamani's statement about rap music was an example of how participants felt concerning its influence on people's behavior. The majority of the participants (100%) expressed that rap music did not influence their behavior, but expressed that they were in contact with individuals who allowed rap music to influence their behavior.

Another female expressed how rap music can influence women to want to be like the models they see in the rap videos:

Women see the rap music videos of women who are considered to be pretty. They see women with the nice hips, the big boobs, the big butt and are small. I know girls who say that I want to look just like her and when I get a job, I am going to get work done to look just like her. I am going to do what I can to get men to want me just like the artist do in videos. In my opinion, they are only doing it to promote sexual behavior. (Shannon, age 17).

Additionally, Sadie shared a real life experience on how rap music may influence individual behavior:

This particular brother likes rap music and it is a big influence on him. So, that is probably the reason why he is the way that he is. He has kids and he is also a drug dealer. He threatened his baby's mother. I don't know why but whenever we were always in the car, he listened to Jay-Z in particular. That is his favorite rap artist. I am sorry it is not Jay-Z, but Young Jeezy. I think he is known as The Snowman because he used to cook and sell drugs. (Sadie, age 17)

Moreover, one of the male participants stated in an interview that some individuals think it is okay to use vulgar language because most artists do it in their songs. He emphasized:

My mother raised me not to curse anyone out just for the fun of it or to never curse because I am angry. People at my school think it is good to recite lyrics in the songs with use of the curse words. They also think it is cool to curse around other people. If I listen to songs with curse words or say the curse words that the artists say in the songs, I would be in a lot of trouble at home. I don't do that and other people should not do that just because their favorite artist does this. (Kevin, age 15)

With how rap music influences some youth behavior, one participant recommended this particular action:

Music executives and DJs should not allow certain songs to be played on the radio during the day because youth are listening to it and thinking that some of the things they hear in rap songs are okay to do out in the community. It is just so outrageous that they think it is okay to do what they hear in particular rap songs. (Tika, age 14)

Therefore, mostly participants (N=14; 100%) felt that rap music does not influence their behavior, but knew of individuals who allowed rap music to influence their behavior. Examples of how rap music influences behavior are presented in Table 7.

Theme 3: Influencing Attitudes and Perception

The question concerning the attitudes and perceptions of rap music was answered in the previous section via quantitative analysis, but this theme also appeared via qualitative analysis in this section through the participants' (*N*=14; 100%) interviews when discussing the function of rap music in African American adolescents' lives. As a result, the theme was categorized as Theme 3: Influencing Attitudes and Perception.

In mainstream rap, artists share how wealthy they are, what they have done with their money and how they are successful in what they do. Participants (N=14) in this study shared their perspective on hearing rap artists talk about how successful they are within the mainstream rap songs and what it really meant to them to be successful within the qualitative results. Chris put it this way when it comes to being successful:

You don't need to be rich to be happy. Some people do, but no, you don't have to be rich to be happy. I am not rich and I am happy. I am always happy. I am happy almost 99% of the time. You can ask any of my friends if they have ever seen me upset or mad, they would be like "no," they have not seen me mad. Depending on how long they knew me, they may say the last time they saw me mad was elementary school. You know I am about to head off to college. So, it's like I am always happy. You don't need to be rich to be happy. My mother, she is happy, she works two jobs and struggles to make ends meet. Last winter, we didn't have heat in the house. You know she was still happy. At the end of the day, she knew that she had a house to go home to, she had a family that was going to be there. Some of the rappers are rich and not happy, they just convey that to you because that is what they needed to be happy. They needed to be rich. Like I said, when you influence the youth, they will think they need to be rich to be happy. They will think they need to disrespect women to be happy. They think they need to have sex to be happy. That is not what it truly is. You don't need that stuff to be happy. (Chris, age 17)

A female participant discussed what the meaning of success and happiness is for her:

Being successful I mean is working where you work. I mean success is working to get to the top and not just being given the top. I want to work to be at the top, I don't want to simply just ride on the escalator and bam be at the top. I want to come and step to myself. That is what success is to me. I want to take the steps myself, go through the obstacles to get there. I can be successful without all the cash and what not. I mean as long as I have my people in my corner behind me and backing me up when I need them. For success, I don't necessarily need all the cash to be successful. Cash means nothing to me and rappers are lying when they say otherwise. (Sadie, age 17)

On the other hand, a male participant viewed success and money as:

Now, I understand money means everything. It is like you really can't have anything without money. So when many people are talking about that, it just gets me like...this is true. Like when I hear them talking about money, it is true. You

need money to do this and that. With the rappers, it is just that they have more money now to do things, you know to buy more expensive things. You see some things I might not understand, I am not into it. I didn't understand because I am down here and they are up there. It is a real big difference, you know I can't compare, thinking of what rappers are talking about in songs. (Khamani, age 15)

A reference was made from a female participant referring to what Christopher Wallace, better known as the Notorious B.I.G. (1998) stated in his song, "The more money you make, the more problems you get" (Erica, age 17). She continued with saying:

Recent rap music, you know, I just don't like it. It is based around nothing but money, women, drugs and drinking. It just makes no sense anymore. (Erica, age 17)

Upon hearing participants discuss how much they are turned off by how much rap artists talk about how happy and successful they are from completing their occupation, it was interesting to hear the reasons they like the genre in the first place. One of the things they liked about the genre was its beats. A female participant shared this statement concerning its beats:

Although the lyrics are inappropriate, you can really dance along to the beat of the songs. I love to dance and I dance to all kinds of beats. It is good for dancing purposes. (Tamar, age 17)

The majority of the participants (N=12; 86%) reported that the beat to the song is the one that draws their attention to a song and then it is the lyrics. A male participant explained that: "The new school rap music may have inappropriate themes and lyrics, but the beats crank in the songs" (Tim, age 16).

Based on the qualitative results concerning the attitudes and perceptions of rap music, the majority of the participants (N=14; 100%) believed rap music did not

influence their perception of wealth and expressed that it was the beat that caused them to like a particular song. Some of the attitudes and perceptions of participants about rap music are presented in Table 7.

Theme 4: Promoting What Appears to Be Cool and Authentic

One of the most important dynamics present within rap music is the "keeping it real" phenomenon (Ogbar, 2010). Rap artists often attempt to separate themselves with others by emphasizing that they speak the truth about their life. The majority of the participants (*N*=11; 79%) in this study stated that they could not listen to an artist who does not speak the truth about his or her life. Thus, these results were categorized as Theme 4: Promoting What Appears to be Cool and Authentic. In Theme 4, one participant noted that "if you cannot be truthful about where you represent, how do you expect me to listen to what you have to say? I cannot do it" (Tika, age 14). Another participant gave the example of the rap artist, Rick Ross, who took his name from a drug dealer and raps about his drug deals and the amount of money he received from them.

I am like come on, man, if you engaged in drug deals you talk about in your songs, you would not live to talk about it. It is crazy. This is the reason I do not like Rick Ross. (Chris, age 17)

In contrast, four (29%) participants stated that it did not matter if rap artists were not honest in their songs. Often, the rap artists may not have done what they have stated that they have done, but may have witnessed or heard it being done by someone else. A female participant placed it in this perspective:

Rap music is all about telling a story and if the story can or will help you, what is wrong with that" explained Shannon. The sad reality about today's rap music is that "the artist only cares about making money and will say or do anything to make this possible." Shannon continued with "half of rap artists don't do what

they say in their songs, it is just entertainment. Anybody who imitates what the artists do is not using common sense. (Shannon, age 17)

Two participants (14%) in the study criticized the rap music genre for promoting inappropriate behavior such as disrespect towards women, violence, teenage sexual behavior and disrespectful behavior. An example was how a female participant explained:

Her parents instilled in her that she should not listen to everything a rappers says. A rappers says that he killed these many people, what are you going to do, kill as many people as the rapper? Young people want to live the lifestyle of the rappers so bad, they don't realize that it is a dead end and sometimes they are not being truthful about the life they lived. (Mariah, age 16)

When participants (N=14) were questioned about where the fault lies in allowing youth to be influenced by rap music, Tamar had this to say:

It is the individual's fault for letting the music control them. As a person, he or she makes his or her own decision. You are your own person, your own human being, your own mind, and no outside influences help nudge you the way to go. It is your body and not their body. (Tamar, age 17)

Participants were questioned about possible changes that they think the rap music genre needs. The majority of the participants (N=14; 100%) reported that the messages within mainstream rap needs to change. An example of this was when a male participant reported:

The fact that musicians are too bound to their contract and bound to the media to do what they came to do, you know and I would have to take that third wheel or middle man out because that right there is a hindrance on its own to what artists can be honest or not honest about in songs. You know people like Drake, Nas and Lil' Wayne and people like that. I believe that what they are doing, they are good at but how they are doing it and how they are saying it is what needs to be fixed. The music industry really taints and waters music down. (Nelson, age 17)

With rap music, the majority of the participants (N=!4; 100%) wanted artists to be real about what they are going through in their lives. Some examples of participants' quotes are provided in Table 7.

Theme 5: Promoting Diversity Among Rap Music

In the book, Rap Therapy, Elligan (2004) stated that there were five categories to describe rap music. None of the categories stated by Elligan emerged from this set of participants' data, but the majority of the participants (*N*=11; 79%) used the terms old school and new school rap music to differentiate the numerous forms of rap music. Thus, the results were categorized as Theme 5: Promoting Diversity Among Rap Music. In Theme 5, a male participant explained:

Old school rap music is "rap music that does not rely heavily on the drums and mostly does not talk too much about making money, having women or doing drugs. New school rap music was defined as the heavy use of the drums with themes in rap songs about using or distribution of drugs, having sex and using violence to deal with anger of others. (Tim, age 16)

The participants within the current study listened to both old school and new school rap music. When listening to new school rap music, the majority of the participants (*N*=12; 86%) listened to the genre for its beats within the songs and expressed some complaints about the reasons for not listening to much new school rap music. A female participant had this to say about new school rap music artists:

Please talk about something new and separate yourself from your peers. This is the reason I listen to mostly old school rap music because they rap about something. (Erica, age 17)

In an interview with one of the male participants, he had this complaint about new school music:

What I don't like about new school rap music is that some people copy and put words together and think it is going to be the next biggest song, you know the next biggest rap song. (Khamani, age 15)

A male participant stated that "rap music most of the new mainstream stuff per say, I can't really get with due to its violent and sexual content" (Nelson, age 17). While the majority of the participants (*N*=12; 86%) expressed some complaints within the qualitative interviews about the new school rap music genre, the results turned out that participants like and listen to some new school rap music by stating that they listen to artists such as Childish Gambino, Common, Drake, Shy Glizzy and LeCrae and Lil' Wayne, who are considered to be both old school and new school rap artists. When participants were questioned about the reasons for listening to new school rap music with its violent and sexual content, a male participant had this explanation about the reason for listening to new school rap music:

Most of the time it is for the beat, the beats crank, it makes you move your head and dance. Sometimes the lyrics are not too bad. (Khamani, age 15)

A female participant shared that sometimes the lyrics are meaningful within new school rap music by saying:

Some new school rap music is good depending on the message. There are good rappers and there are bad rappers. The rappers like Common, J. Cole and Wale are good rappers with some meaningful lyrics within their songs. (Sadie, age 17)

A female participant shared an example of a song that came out earlier in the year that was a positive new school rap song:

The song Common did with John Legend from the movie, Selma, I thought that was a nice song and it really went good with the movie. (Tika, age 14)

Pertaining to the fourth hypothesis, participants enjoyed listening to both old school and new school rap music. With new school rap music, it is about the beats, but some of the rap artists within the genre have meaningful songs that they can listen to and enjoy without the themes of sex, violence and drugs. With old school rap music, it is about the messages within the rap songs that causes them to like the rap songs.

Participants' quotes about the different types of rap music are presented in Table 7.

Theme 6: Promoting Support Among Rap Music

Furthermore, participants (*N*=13; 93%) explained how there were specific rap songs that provided support when dealing with difficulties. As a result, Theme 6: Promoting Support Among Rap Music emerged from the data and was created based on the qualitative analysis. Within the study, 13 out of the 14 participants (93%) believed there were certain rap songs by rap artists that promoted support for when they were dealing with difficulties in life. A male participant had this to say about rap music in helping to deal with life:

Some of the rap songs I listen to when dealing with stress is listening to new school gospel rap music. Gospel rap music talks about going to God and talking to Him about the situation. One of the artists I turn to is LeCrae, who is a Gospel Rap Artist, and talks about going to God to deal with your situations. I try to take it to God. I don't think drugs or alcohol are good ways to cope with stress in life as mentioned in secular rap songs, so I mostly don't listen to new school secular rap. (Kevin, age 15)

When faced with adversity, a male participant discussed:

When listening to TI, I hear about the struggles he is going through especially on the Paper Trail CD. I would actually say that he is my favorite rapper out of everybody in the game. I say that because he is one of the only rappers that I myself can relate to. His friend died at a fight, he got shot. When I was younger, I had a friend who got shot too and he also died, just like TI. In a couple of his songs, he mentions his friend and how if he had never done that, he would still be

alive. When I lose someone I know, I listen to the Paper Trail CD to cope with loss. TI to me is one of the only rappers that try to convey a message. Sometimes, some rappers stray away from conveying a message (a positive message). Yeah, he would have to be my favorite new/old school rapper. (Chris, age 17)

Moreover, a male participant during the interview expressed:

I mostly listen to old school rap music. His favorite old school artist to listen to is 2 Pac. 2 Pac raps on some of my favorite songs. I like "Keep Your Head Up" because it tells me to never give up. I also like the song, Dear Mama because he spoke about the things that he and his mother used to do. It makes me think about the relationship that I have with my own mother. When my mother is not feeling well or I did something to make her angry, I listen to that song. I listen to some new school artists to be entertained by the beats of the song such as Montana 300, Lil' Bootsie and Lil' Snup. These artists make me feel good when I am having a bad day, but again I listen mostly to old school rap music. (Tim, age 16)

One category that was not a major theme in the study, but could be of importance is how the genre influences individual preferences. Four of the participants (29%) expressed how peers, friends, media and siblings can encourage individual preferences in rap music. The participants expressed how peer and media influences can play a role in whether they liked a particular song. They also expressed that they would not like particular rap songs had it not been for peer and media influences. One participant (7%) expressed that he would not have listened to rap music again if his cousins did not force him to hear it in the car.

With rap music, nine participants (68%) found the genre to be useful for emotional support. Despite participants' views of rap music and its lyrics being both positive and negative, they felt the genre was an effective source of support in their lives. The fourteen participants (100%) in the study reported that the music does not control their behavior, but knew individuals who allowed the music to control their behavior by

going out and engaging in the behaviors that they hear their favorite artists explain in their songs. They also expressed the need for rap artists to speak truthfully within their rap songs and make it appear that things are perfect within their lives since they are living comfortably. The themes and quotes from participants about rap music are presented in Table 7.

Table 7

Themes and Quotes from Participants About Rap Music

Theme	Participant Total Agreement/Tot al Number of Participants	Thematic Influence on Developme nt (Reviewers)	Descriptio n of Themes	Links to Past Models	Examples from the Open Ended Responses
Providing Emotional Support	9/14 (68%)	Difficult Times (Emotional Influence)	Emotional Support, Coping Mechanis m, Energy Booster, Stress Reliever	Elligan, 2003 "rap therapy"; Hadley & Yancy, 2008 "therapeutic uses of rap", DeCarlo & Hockman, 2003	"hyped up for a game", "calms me down, "helps me to relax", "helps me to dance", "helps me to study", "connect to the artist"
Influenci- ng Behavior	14/14 (100%)	Social Influence	Influences Individuals to Curse, Promotes Violence, Degrades Women, Perform Specific Actions	Wingood et al., 2003 "sexual behavior"; Cundiff, 2013; Weitzer & Kubrin, 2009; Kirchheimer,	"degrades women", "encourages sexual behavior", "encourages you to purchase something", "be in a

Influencin g Attitudes and Perception s	14/14 (100%)	Internal (Cognitive) Influence	Influences Views on Certain Topics About Rap Music and Elements Within Rap Music	2003 "rap put teens at risk"; Brown, 2006 "behaving and feeling Tyson 2003	relationship ", "curse someone out", "influences decision- making". "influence you that being rich makes you happy", "poor and happy" "tells a story", "some is good and bad", "too much vulgar language", "no positive message", "like genre for its beats"
Influencin g What is Cool and Authentic	14/14 (100%)	Internal (Cognitive) Influence	Influencing beliefs that the artists are cool and honest within songs	Ogbar, 2010 "keeping it real phenomenon"	"be real", "be honest", "keep it 100", "hate liars", "rap is not work", "rap is fun", "live the lifestyle"
Promoting Diversity Among Rap Music	11/14 (79%)	Social Influence	Promoting Different Styles Among Rap Music.	Elligan, 2003 "rap therapy", Hadley & Yancy, 2008, Rose, 2008 "hip hop wars"	"old school rap", "new school rap" "different beats", "styles", "new school music talks about drugs,

SupportTimesArtists"hipAmong(Emotional Rap MusicWhowarsInfluenceParticipantEllig	
for ther Support.	1

Chapter Five: Discussion

This study explored the relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents. For the quantitative portion of the study, the two research questions were: (1) What relationship does rap music have to the well-being of adolescents? and (2) What are the attitude and perception of African American adolescents about rap music? Based on the quantitative results concerning the relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents, no significant relationship was found between the two variables, which did not support the first hypothesis. For rap music, African American adolescents had positive perceptions and attitudes of rap music, which supported the second hypothesis that African American adolescents would have a positive perception of rap music. In addition, participants showed that they had positive psychological well-being when participating in the study and was able to successfully cope when stressful situations occurred in their daily living. Rap music was viewed mostly positively by the participants in the quantitative portion of the study in spite of the small sample size.

The qualitative results of the study yield six themes: (1) Providing Emotional Support; (2) Influencing Behavior Within Society; (3) Influencing Attitudes and Perceptions; (4) Promoting What Appears to Be Cool and Authentic to the Listener; (5) Promoting Diversity Among Rap Music; and (6) Promoting Support Among Music. The

qualitative results of the study suggested that the main function of rap music in the lives of African American adolescents was to serve as an effective coping mechanism as found in Theme 1, Providing Emotional Support (DeCarlo & Hockman, 2005; Tyson, 2002), and answered the third research question within the study. Theme 1 described how participants processed how rap music helped them to relax and cope with negative circumstances. Rap music songs with uplifting messages and very little vulgar language was mostly viewed favorably as a coping strategy to use for psychological support (DeCarlo & Hockman, 2003; DeCarlo, 2015; Elligan, 2004; Hadley & Yancy, 2008; Tyson, 2002), which was supported with Theme 6: Promoting Support Among Rap Music. On the other hand, rap music songs that consisted of themes of sex, drugs, and violence appeared not to be an effective coping strategy for adolescents to help with psychological support due to its possible influence to engage in inappropriate behavior and create even more stress (Cundiff, 2013; Hadley & Yancy, 2008; Weitzer & Kubrin, 2009), which answered the fourth research question. Therefore, some rap songs can serve as a form of psychological support for African American adolescents, but can also influence inappropriate behaviors such as degrading others or engaging in violence (Hadley & Yancy) based on Theme 2: Influencing Attitudes and Perception. Rap music is a broad genre and not all of rap music is bad, whether it is considered to be old school or new school rap music (Rose, 2008) as described with Theme 5, Promoting Diversity Among Rap Rap Music. Elligan described the different forms of rap music in his book, Rap Therapy, but participants did not use the categories mentioned in the current study. There is the possibility that participants were not familiar with the different categories

stated within the book and made the decision to call it old school rap music and new school rap music in order to effectively explain the difference between rap music with appropriate themes and messages and rap music with good beats and inappropriate themes and messages. Additionally, there is the possibility that this is the current approach taken by radio personalities and music executives to describe the different forms of rap music being played on the radio.

When listening to a rap song, the researcher asked the fourteen participants about what makes them like the song. The results from the study suggested that the beat of the song catches their attention first and not the lyrics which was noted in Theme 5:

Promoting Diversity Among Rap Music. This is a common phenomenon in today's society where the beat is the driving force of whether the individual will like a song (Porter, 2006). The lyrics was the second thing that received attention from participants within rap songs.

Based on the qualitative results of the study, there was a desire from participants for rap artists to be honest within their songs (Ogbar, 2010), which was noted in Theme 3: Influencing What is Real and True. Thus, it was perceived that rap artists lie to their listeners in order to sell records and blamed the music executives for this behavior, which was supported in previous books about the state of rap music (Ball, 2011; Guzman, 2013; Rose, 2008). Moreover, they blamed the music executives and corporations for promotion of having to be rich to be happy and felt that this was another form of dishonesty from the rap artists. A contribution from this study was for artists to be honest within their rap songs (Ogbar).

Pertaining to Theme 2: Influencing Behavior Within Society, this study supported previous research surrounding this area of controversy within rap music (Cundiff, 2013; Weitzer & Kubrin, 2009; Wingood et al., 2003). Rap songs may encourage individuals to complete appropriate activities such as purchase new shoes, have a relationship with someone, or accomplish goals in life, but the genre can also encourage individuals to complete inappropriate activities such as commit a violent act, degrade women, engage in a sexual relationship, or sell drugs. Thus, critics of rap music could possibly argue with supporters of rap music that it can encourage sex and violence within society if the adolescent was unable to differentiate between right and wrong and what is appropriate and inappropriate (Weitzer & Kubrin; Ball). If individuals were not able to differentiate between right and wrong within the rap songs and take every word that rap artists say as true, then there may be some serious consequences for their lives (Wingood et al., 2003).

Furthermore, the current study supported previous literature concerning its numerous forms within the genre (Elligan, 2004) based on Theme 5: Promoting Diversity Among Rap Music. While the numerous forms of rap music were not defined in categories mentioned by Elligan, it was clear to the participants that there was a difference in the types of rap music being played and heard on the radio. The differences were linked to the content of the songs and the year the artist and song came on the rap music scene. New school music was considered to be the dominant form of rap being played on the radio continuously (Ball, 2011) and they were bored with it. New school rap music was liked by adolescents for its beats. Rap music could help adolescents who

are resistant to counseling or it may produce the opposite effect by encouraging them to seek help from a human service professional.

Moreover, the results of the study supported Bronfenbrenner's theory by suggesting that internal and external factors within the environment can influence individuals' actions and behavior. Listening to rap music may help some adolescents to relax or influence them to engage in behavior that may be appropriate or inappropriate. Rap music can also influence listeners to think something is real or cool when in reality it may not be cool or appropriate in daily living. There were some individuals in the interview section of the study who expressed that peers and media influenced whether they liked a particular song, which could also support Bronfenbrenner's theory of how peers and media influence the individual within the environment. The researcher did not place this information in a major category due to the low number of participants who expressed this particular view in the current study. The listening of rap music by adolescents can have implications within the counseling field in multiple ways.

Counseling Implications

The results obtained from the study could offer an alternative to human service professionals counseling adolescents. With resistance from some adolescents about the possible need and effectiveness of counseling (DeCarlo & Hockman, 2003; Tyson, 2002, 2012), counseling interventions must be tailored to the population if success is to be achieved. One of the counseling interventions that can possibly help adolescents to process issues influencing their psychological well-being and promote healing in their lives is listening to rap music (Elligan, 2004; Travis, Jr., 2013; Tyson, 2002).

Based on the findings from this study, rap music played a critical role in the lives of adolescents. Rap music has seemed to be a dominant force in how adolescents see the world in that they recite the lyrics of their favorite rap songs by artists, listen to rap songs during leisure time and may sometimes do or say what artists rap in the songs (Elligan, 2004). It was also noted how rap music provided an emotional release for adolescents (Lightstone, 2012) to satisfy the need for connection and belongingness (Brown, 2006; DeCarlo & Hockman; Dolev-Cohen & Barak, 2013; Kitwana, 2002; Mesch & Talmud, 2010; Tyson). Moreover, rap music served as an approach to provide entertainment and an energy stimulator (Alim & Pennycook, 2007). Thus, rap music can be used to improve anger, build healthy relationship, deal with stress, cope with loss and overall promote positive psychological well-being (DeCarlo & Hockman, 2003; Elligan, 2004; Hakvoort, 2015; Travis, Jr., 2013; Tyson, 2002).

If human service professionals make the decision to use rap artists that the adolescents like within the counseling session, the approach can provide positive outcomes in counseling and the adolescents' life. More specifically, if human service professionals agree to hear a sample of rap songs that adolescents like and engage in lyric analysis, the adolescents' love for rap music can be used to facilitate therapy and understand possibly the reasons for the adolescents' inappropriate behavior. Some studies have shown that rap music can be an effective approach for counseling adolescents (DeCarlo & Hockman, 2003; Ellison, Hadley & Yancy; Tyson, 2002). Another approach to incorporating rap music within the counseling session is granting permission for adolescents to create their own rap songs. This approach will allow

adolescents to express their feelings about issues or difficulties interfering with their psychological well-being and can provide an avenue for human service professionals to treat adolescents. Moreover, human service professionals may consider using rap music group therapy. With rap music group therapy, human service professionals can understand the impact that rap music has in the lives of adolescents and can possibly successfully help a group of adolescents who may be struggling in life. An adolescent in treatment may benefit from peers participating in rap music group therapy because it would allow them to hear another peer's perspective about dealing with situations in life whether it is expressed openly in the therapy session through writing their own rap song or sharing a rap song written by another individual. In order to achieve success with counseling African American adolescents, it is highly recommended that human service professionals try to incorporate rap music as a counseling approach in their toolkit.

The majority of participants (100%) in the study believed that rap music did not influence their own behavior, but it appeared that it encouraged them to think about things or purchase items mentioned in the rap songs based on participant responses within the qualitative interviews. Counselors who use rap music as the therapeutic approach with clients may want to encourage clients to see the contradiction of what they say about rap music's influence on their own behavior and the things that they are doing in response to hearing some of the rap songs. Not only did the current study on the relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents show support of Bronfenbrenner's theory, but it also showed how important counselors can be to adolescents because it would give them someone to talk to about

things that may be taking place at home or school. The possibility exists that adolescents may not have appropriate mentors or role models in their lives. Also, adolescents may not know when to use or what to use as a coping strategy in their lives. Without appropriate role models or assistance from counselors to identify the difference between right and wrong, there is the possibility that adolescents may imitate behaviors they hear in rap songs and be in denial that the songs may possibly be influencing their behavior. Thus, it is important for parents to have discussions with their children about the reasons for liking the music and if there is anything that they would like to talk about since they are listening to the music when the themes of the song may be clearly inappropriate. With human service professionals who work with teenagers on a daily basis, rap music can be used as a teaching and a counseling tool.

Limitations

After completion of the study on the relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents, some limitations were found within the study. This study used a purposeful sample design from a mentoring program with fourteen African American teenagers between the ages of 14 and 17, and as a result, this was a small sample size study and these findings cannot be generalized to the African American population at large. At the same time, the study took place over a one year span where some students decided to participate in the study instantly, while others took some time to think about whether they wanted to participate in the study. Some of the reasons could have been because they thought the researcher would judge them based on the sharing of their thoughts about rap music or tell their parents about their responses if

they supported rap music with themes of sex, drugs and violence. It also may have taken time for students to participate in the study because they had to discuss the study with their parents and the parents may have wanted to think about whether it was a good idea for them to participate in a study about rap music. In addition, the study consisted of more participation from females than males. It might have supported the notion that females were more open with talking to another individual about a current issue and expressing their thoughts when compared to males who may not be into expressing their thoughts regardless of the issue. Moreover, this study did not consist of observations of participants' behavior when certain rap songs are played, which could have possibly determined the actual behavior of participants when rap songs with misogynistic and sexual themes were being played. With a study of a small sample size, it was difficult to generalize the results to a large population of African American adolescents, but the study provided support for additional research in the use of rap music to communicate with adolescents. If there was a bigger sample, a significant relationship may have been found between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents. Therefore, a study that used simply a quantitative approach with a sample size of at least 150 participants with an equal portion of males and females may have yielded a significant relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents. Similarly, a qualitative approach that simply analyzed the attitudes and perceptions of African American adolescents about today's rap music may have generated positive results.

Another limitation in the study was the psychological well-being assessment in the study. On the assessment, the participant is requested to identify if he or she has been experiencing some scenarios over the past week. The participants may have experienced the scenarios a month ago, but not within a week. Therefore, participants may have believed that their psychological well-being was positive during that time. When participants were asked questions about how they see life via the interview, some of the participants elaborated on how music supported or did not support their psychological well-being.

Future Research

The findings in this study suggest that rap music could potentially have a positive influence on the psychological well-being of African-American teenagers. The test used in the study was Pearson's Correlation, which is the test to use to examine the relationship between two variables with a large sample size. Future research may explore the use of the Spearman's Correlation test to examine whether there would be a significant relationship between rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents with a small sample size, which may produce a significant relationship between the two variables. In addition, the findings suggested that rap music could potentially have a positive influence on the psychological well-being of African American teenagers by serving as an educational and entertaining influence on them. Although further research is needed in the area of the influence of rap music on today's teens, this study suggests that with possible conversations between adolescents and trusted authority figures, the influence of rap music may not be as detrimental as

predicted by critics of the musical genre. Future studies can include taking popular rap songs and having a focus group discussion of what the lyrics of the songs mean to them and how could they apply the songs to real life situations. Further research is needed to see the efficacy of using rap music when working with this population and seeing if rap artists are influences on their lives.

A finding in this study was the emphasis that respondents like rap artists who keep it real by telling the truth about how they lived their lives and their birthplace.

Future research should study the reasons that rap artists fail to be honest in their rap songs about their life which would help inform listeners about who is in control of the music industry and the reality of the life of the rap artist. Another future study could explore African American adolescents' meaning of keeping it real within rap songs and their boundaries of like or dislike for rap artists who are not keeping it real. The ultimate goal of this study would be participants and listeners informing the record companies and radio stations that they will not tolerate listening to artists who are not being honest about what they are going through in life.

An additional gap in the research literature was exploring what would happen if rap artists started rapping about positive themes without the degree of vulgar language that is present among the rap music genre today. Would adolescents continue to listen to the music? Would they listen to the music for its beat or lyrics? Would the music be played on radio stations today? Research has not explored whether the lack of vulgar language within a song by a popular rap artists would be played on the radio and if it would change how individuals view life and cope with stress. The findings from this

study showed that adolescents are bored with hearing the same themes present within rap music of sex, drugs and violence so that a study of vulgarity in rap music may help better understand adolescents' behavior and preferences.

Research has shown that mentoring has benefits in the lives of teenagers personally and professionally (Bowers et al., 2016; Schwartz et al., 2013; Liang et al., 2013; Zimmerman, Bingenheimer & Notaro, 2002). The results of the study came from a mentoring program in the mid-Atlantic part of the United States. Is it possible that the results from the study will be the same with adolescents who are not a part of a mentoring program? What if adolescents did not have a good support system if they listened to rap music on a daily basis? Is it possible that adolescents who did not have someone to look up to, talk to when they are feeling stressed or have a healthy outlet be heavily influenced by rap music and do the things that the rap artists discuss in their songs? For this study, there were no direct questions pertaining to the mentoring program to measure its association to adolescents' thoughts about rap music, but future research could compare adolescents who are part of a mentoring program with those who are not in a mentoring program to see if there is a significant difference on how and if they are heavily influenced by rap music. The research pertaining to rap music has not examined the influence of mentoring with the attitude and perception of African American adolescents about rap music.

Furthermore, the study did not consist of a pre-test and post-test. The study relied on the participants' thoughts of rap music using an interview and the two scales. In order to measure the effectiveness of an approach such as rap music to connect with

adolescents, rap music songs would have to be used during the study to demonstrate its effectiveness which possibly explains the lack of data to support the use of rap music. Future research is needed to examine the use and support of rap music to counsel adolescents. There are connections between rap music and adolescents, but the articles focused on the negative impacts of rap music (Wingood et al., 2003; Elliot, 2005; Litman, 1997; McLean, 1997). Due to the lack of empirical articles, more research is needed to support the idea that rap music can be used as a counseling approach for the adolescent population.

Some behaviors that adolescents may emulate may cause them to suffer serious consequences such as possibly being arrested (Higgins et al., 2012), or get hurt (Crosby et al., 2012). Previous research has yet to explore the relationship between bullying behavior and hearing rap songs with violent lyrics among teens. The effects of bullying can lead to deadly violence. Through rap music, teens may possibly feel pumped, energized and powerful, but feeling pumped, powerful and energized may lead to destroying things or other individuals if teens are not careful or able to differentiate between right and wrong (DeCarlo & Hockman, 2003; Elligan, 2004). Research is needed to explore whether there is a relationship between bullying and listening to rap songs with violent themes among teens.

Conclusion

Music entertains us, whether it makes you want to sing, dance, laugh or take action (Hadley & Yancy, 2008). From the lyrics in the song, its tempo, or its beat, music influences some form of behavior (Travis, Jr., 2013; Tyson, 2012). Music can bring

about numerous emotions depending on where the adolescent is in his or her life (Brown, 2006). Some messages in the music communicate harmful and destructive behavior or handling conflicts in an appropriate manner when heard by adolescents who are susceptible to vulnerability (Higgins, 2010; Wingood et al., 2003). With some teenagers in this study, music was a source of entertainment and therapeutic, but for others music was a source of healing, which can possibly lead to punishment or consequences. Some parents of the participants in the study may need to be mindful and aware of the type of music they are listening to and the reasons behind their decision to listen to it. An open dialogue between the parent and teenager may be beneficial. With an effective social support system, adolescents may not fall prey into the negative and destructive influences of rap music. Whether you are a huge supporter or a critic of rap music, it seems that rap music will be here to stay for a long time. It is still up for debate as for whether or not the content of rap music will change anytime soon. The majority of the participants (100%) in the study agreed that the themes of sex, drugs, violence and how successful you are becomes redundant and things need to be changed.

The majority of the research questions supported the researcher's hypotheses.

Rap music served as a form of entertainment, an energy booster and a coping mechanism in the lives of African American adolescents. The participants in the study gave positive reviews to rap music for its beats and messages, but were troubled by some of the themes present within rap music by artists such as themes of sex, violence and drugs because of how the genre can influence inappropriate behavior. They were troubled by this phenomenon by asking if life was all about how many individuals you can sleep with,

making money by selling drugs, using drugs, using vulgar language to dominate others and resorting to violence when you don't have your way. Life is about more than that, it is about being happy regardless of the amount of money in your possession and realizing that other individuals have problems, but don't use violence to solve the issues. With rap music, participants listened to both old school and new school rap music, but participants shared how they are turned off by some new school rap music due to its explicit content. Overall, the results of the study showed a positive relationship between participants who listened to rap music and viewed their own lives in a positive manner such as accomplishing their goals and knowing right from wrong from the qualitative portion of the study, but not the quantitative portion of the study.

Pertaining to the theoretical framework for the study, the results were somewhat consistent with the Bronfenbrenner theory. Bronfenbrenner's theory explained that there were direct and indirect factors in the environment that play a role in an individual's behavior. Although individual tastes in rap music was not a major thematic category for this study, four participants (29%) in the study shared that friends and family members influenced them to listen to particular forms of music and whether to like or dislike a song. On the other hand, parents can play an influential role on what the teenagers listen to in their leisure time by not allowing them to listen to certain forms of rap music in the home. Therefore, individuals and media may influence the attitudes, perceptions and behaviors of others whether individuals want to believe it or not within our environment.

The results of the study supported the phenomenon that individuals make choices about the things to do based on events that occur within their environment.

It is still quite unclear of the degree that rap music influences inappropriate adolescent behavior, but it is clear that rap music can influence individuals in a positive and a negative manner. It can influence individuals to respond appropriately or inappropriately to circumstances occurring in their lives.

Appendix A



Office of Research Integrity and Assurance

Research Hali, 4400 Univeristy Drive, MS 6D5, Fairfax, Virginia 22030 Phone: 703-993-5445; Fax: 703-993-9590

DATE: March 27, 2014

TO: Fred Bemak, Ph.D

FROM: George Mason University IRB

Project Title: [537262-1] The Relationship Between Rap Music and the Psychological Well-

Being of African American Adolescents

SUBMISSION TYPE: New Project

ACTION: APPROVED
APPROVAL DATE: March 27, 2014
EXPIRATION DATE: March 26, 2015

REVIEW TYPE: Expedited Review

REVIEW TYPE: Expedited review category #7

Thank you for your submission of New Project materials for this project. The George Mason University IRB has APPROVED your submission. This submission has received Expedited Review based on applicable federal regulations.

Please remember that all research must be conducted as described in the submitted materials.

Please remember that informed consent is a process beginning with a description of the project and insurance of participant understanding followed by a signed consent form. Informed consent must continue throughout the project via a dialogue between the researcher and research participant. Federal regulations require that each participant receives a copy of the consent document.

Please note that any revision to previously approved materials must be approved by the IRB prior to nitiation. Please use the appropriate revision forms for this procedure.

All UNANTICIPATED PROBLEMS involving risks to subjects or others and SERIOUS and UNEXPECTED adverse events must be reported promptly to the Office of Research Integrity & Assurance (ORIA). Please use the appropriate reporting forms for this procedure. All FDA and sponsor reporting requirements should also be followed (if applicable).

All NON-COMPLIANCE issues or COMPLAINTS regarding this project must be reported promptly to the DRIA.

The anniversary date of this study is March 26, 2015. This project requires continuing review by this committee on an annual basis. You may not collect date beyond this date without prior IRB approval. A continuing review form must be completed and submitted to the ORIA at least 30 days prior to the

compression (NORM)

anniversary date or upon completion of this project. Prior to the anniversary date, the ORIA will send you a reminder regarding continuing review procedures.

Please note that all research records must be retained for a minimum of three years, or as described in your submission, after the completion of the project.

If you have any questions, please contact Bess Dieffenbach at 703-993-4121 or edieffen@gmu.edu. Please include your project title and reference number in all correspondence with this committee.

This letter has been electronically signed in accordance with all applicable regulations, and a copy is retained within George Mason Jniversity IRB's records.

Appendix B

Demographics Questionnaire

1. What is your gender?
A) Boy B) Girl
2. What is your age?
A) 14 B) 15 C) 16 D) 17
3. In what city did you grow up or spend most of your life?
4. Were you born in the United States? A) Yes B) No
4a If no, how long have you lived in the United States?
5. What is your race (How do you identify yourself)?
6. What grade are you currently in?
A) 9 th grade B) 10 th grade C) 11 th grade
7. How many brothers and sisters do you have?

- A) 1 B) 2
- C) More than 2
- 8. What school do you go to?

Appendix C

RAP Scale

Circle the best answer that applies to the way you feel about rap music.

- 1. Some rap music can uplift and empower people.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 2. Many youth can relate to rap music because it is about reality.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 3. Some rap music is a form of resistance to oppressive conditions.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 4. Sexual references in rap music can cause males to be sexual with females.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 5. Violent rap music videos can lead males to be more violent.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 6. There are very important messages in most rap music.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 7. Most rap music suggests that women are just for male sexual satisfaction.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 8. I like rap music for its beats and use of sounds.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 9. Rap music is not a real form of music, its just talking over sounds.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree 10. Rappers are not as talented as other musical artists.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree 11. Most rappers have creative intelligence, reflected in their ability to rap.

- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree 12. Most rap music projects macho attitudes.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree 13. Most rap music helps youth cope with their reality.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree 14. Some rap music encourages ethnic group pride.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree 15. Rap music is a healthy resistance against the system.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree 16. Violence in rap videos can lead to violent behaviors.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree 17. Sexism in rap videos can lead to sexist behavior.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree 18. Most rap music glorifies drugs and violence.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree

Appendix D

Well-Being Manifestation Scale

Circle the best answer that applies to the way you have felt in the past month.

- 1. During the past month, you felt self-confident.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
 - 2. During the past month, you felt satisfied with what you were able to accomplish, you felt proud of yourself.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
 - 3. During the past month, you were a "go-getter", you took on lots of projects.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
 - 4. (During the past month,) you felt emotionally balanced.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
 - 5. (During the past month,) you felt loved and appreciated.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
 - 6. During the past month,) you had goals and ambitions.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
 - 7. (During the past month,) you felt like having fun, participating in sports and all your favourite activities and hobbies.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
 - 8. During the past month, you felt useful.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
 - 9. (During the past month,) you smiled easily.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
 - 10. (During the past month,) you were true to yourself, being natural at all times.

- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 11. (During the past month,) you did a good job of listening to your friends.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 12. (During the past month,) you were curious and interested in all sorts of things.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 13. (During the past month,) you were able to clearly sort things out when faced with complicated situations.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 14. (During the past month,) you found life exciting and enjoyed every moment of it.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 15. (During the past month,) your life was well-balanced participating in personal and professional activities.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 16. During the past month,) you were quite calm and level-headed.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 17. (During the past month,) you were able to easily find solutions to problems.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 18. During the past month, you got along well with everyone.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 19. (During the past month,) you lived at a normal pace, not excessively.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 20. (During the past month,) you had the impression of really enjoying life.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 21. (During the past month,) you had a good sense of humor and made your friends laugh.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 22. (During the past month,) you felt good and at peace with yourself.

- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
- 23. (During the past month,) you felt healthy and in a good space.
- A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
 - 24. (During the past month,) you were able to face difficult situations in a positive way.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree
 - 25. (During the past month,) your morale was good.
 - A) Strongly Disagree B) Disagree C) Not Sure D) Agree E) Strongly Agree

Appendix E

Interview Questions

- 1. Do you listen to rap music? If not, what type of music do you listen to?
- 2. What is your opinion of rap music? A) What do you like about it? B) What do you dislike about rap music? What purpose does rap music serve in your life?
- 3. Who are your favorite artists (What type of rap music do you listen to?)
- 4. What kind of involvement does your family have in the music you listen to?
- 5. What kind of involvement do your friends/peers have in the music you listen to?
- 6. Does rap music relate to how you view life?
- 7. Does rap music relate to how you view the future?
- 8. Does rap music relate to how you deal with stress?
- 9. What is your opinion of how women are talked about in rap songs?
- 10. What is your opinion of how sex is talked about in rap songs?
- 11. What is your opinion of how drugs are talked about in rap songs?
- 12. What is your opinion of how violence is talked about in rap songs?
- 13. What is your opinion on the theme in rap music with emphasis on being rich to be successful?
- 14. Tell me what would you or would not change about rap music?

Appendix F

Researcher's Script to Recruit Participants

Researcher says: Good day, I am Tony Camp, a doctoral student in the Counseling Program at George Mason University.

How many of you all like Rick Ross? Lil' Wayne? Drake? Nicki Minaj? Macklemore? How many of you all want to go to college and graduate school?

This is great because I am conducting a study to find out the reasons that African American adolescents love rap music and particular rap artists. The name of the study is: "The Relationship between Rap music and the psychological well-being of African American adolescents. The study will be a two part study which will consist of filling out two scales (one on rap music and the other on well-being) and completing an interview about your thoughts on rap music. The benefits of the study include adults discovering the reason that their teenager loves rap music and will educate teenagers and parents about the work requirements in college in order to obtain a degree. Would you be interested in participating in this study about rap music?

Here is a consent form that the parent or guardian must sign and here is an assent form that you must sign before participating since you are under the age of 18. You/the teenager cannot participate in the study unless both forms are returned to me prior to participating in study.

If you have any questions about any of the procedures, please feel free to ask me. Also, here is my information if you would like to contact me if you can think of any questions that you would like to ask me.

- If the participant answers yes, the following questions will be asked: (1) What is your age? (2) In what city did you grow up in or spend most of your life? (3) Were you born in the United States? (4) How do you identify yourself? (5) What grade are you in? (6) How many brothers and sisters do you have? (7) What school do you go to?
- If the potential participant answers that he or she is part African/African American/Black or is between the ages of 14 and 17: The person qualifies to take part in the study. The person will be given two scales to complete before completion of the interview process of the study on rap music. The researcher will make arrangements with the parent and teenager for a time that the teenager can meet with the researcher for the interview portion of the study.

• If the potential participant answers that he or she is not part African/African American/Black or is between the ages of 14 and 17. The Researcher/Recruiter will say: "Thank You for your time, but you do not meet all of the criteria for the study. This study is looking for a self-identified African American/African/Black teenager between the ages of 14 and 17.

Appendix G

Informed Consent

The Effects of Rap Music on the Psychological Well-Being of African American Adolescents.

RESEARCH PROCEDURES

This research is being conducted to explore the effects of rap music on the well-being of adolescents. If you agree for your child to participate, your child will be asked to complete the Demographic Questionnaire, the well-being scale and the rap music scale. Next, your child will be asked questions relating to rap music through an interview. The survey and interview will take an hour to complete. The sessions will be audio-recorded with permission.

RISKS

The foreseeable risks or discomforts include your child sharing thoughts and being recorded.

BENEFITS

Individuals who participate in the study will receive a \$10.00 gift card from Chick-Fil-A. CONFIDENTIALITY

The data in this study will be confidential. Confidentiality will be maintained by creating an alias for every participant and no identifying information will be connected to their data. Once the surveys are completed, they will be placed in a brown envelope. Once the observations have taken place, the names of students will not be revealed in the report.

PARTICIPATION

Your child's participation is voluntary, and your child may withdraw from the study at any time. There will be no penalty for your child not participating. There are no costs to you or any other party.

CONTACT

This research is being conducted by Tony Camp and the Department of Education and Human Development at George Mason University (GMU). He may be reached at (301)-219-5904 for questions. You can also call my Dissertation Advisor, Dr. Fred Bemak, a Counseling Professor at this phone number 703-993-3941.

You may contact the GMU Office of Research Subject Protections at 703-993-4121 if you have any questions or comments.

This research has been reviewed according to GMU procedures.

Name	Date	
I agree to audio tapingI do not agree to audio taping.		
I have read this form and agree that my child ca	in participate in this study.	
CONSENT		

Appendix H

Assent Form

The Relationship Between Rap Music and the Psychological Well-Being of

Adolescents.

RESEARCH PROCEDURES

The reason for this research is to explore the effects of rap music on the well-being of adolescents. If you agree to take part in this study, you will be asked to complete two scales, demographic questionnaire, and complete a semi-structured interview about the reason you feel the way you feel about rap music. The survey and interview will take an hour.

RISKS AND BENEFITS

You will not lose any of your rights by being in the study. However, some people may feel a little bit nervous talking about things relating to rap music. If you participate in this study, you will receive a \$10.00 gift card from Chick-Fil-A restaurant.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Your name will not be on the short survey that you fill out. I will be taping our talk together, but I will be keeping that tape in a very safe place. Everything that we all say on the tape will be written out on paper. I may use some of your words when I write my report, but I will never tell anyone your name. Your name on the observations will not be revealed on report.

PARTICIPATION

You do not have to talk to me if you do not want to. If you change your mind after we start talking and want to stop that is OK. I will not get mad and nothing will happen to you.

CONTACT

My name is Tony Camp, and I am studying to get a PhD in Counseling at George Mason University. You can call me at this phone number (301-219-5904) if you have any questions about this study. You can also call my Dissertation Advisor, Dr. Fred Bemak, a Counseling Professor at George Mason University, at this phone number 703-993-3941.

The George Mason University Office of Research Subject Protections knows all about my research and said it was OK for me to do it. You can call them at 703-993-4121 if you have any questions about being a part of this research.

CONSENT

Name	Date
	
1 do not agree to addio taping.	
I do not agree to audio taping.	
I agree to audio taping.	
I have read this form and I agree to be part of this study.	

References

- Adderley, C., Kennedy, M. & Berz, W. (2003). A home away from home: The world of the high school music classroom. *Journal of Research in Music Education*, *51*, 190-205. doi:10.2307/3345373.
- Afable-Munsuz, A., Speizer, I., Magnus, J. H., & Kendall, C. (2006). A positive orientation toward early motherhood is associated with unintended pregnancy among New Orleans youth. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, *10*, 265-276. doi:10.1007/s10995-005-0049-8.
- Ahmadi, S. & Oosthuizen, D. (2008). Naming my story and claiming my self. In S. Hadley & G. Yancy (Ed.). *Therapeutic uses of rap and hip-hop* (p.191-211). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Alim, H. S., & Pennycook, A. (2007). Global linguistic flows: Hip-hop culture, identities, and the politics of language education. *Journal of Language, Identity, and Education*, 6, 89-100. doi:10.1080/15348450701341238.
- Allen, V. D., & Solomon, P. (2012). Educational-entertainment as an intervention with black adolescents exposed to community violence. *Journal of Prevention & Intervention in the Community*, 40, 313-324. doi: 10.1080/10852352.2012.707452.
- Alvarez, T. T. (2012). Beats, rhymes, and life: rap therapy in an urban setting. In S. Hadley & G.Yancy (Ed.). *Therapeutic uses of rap and hip-hop* (p. 117-129). New York, NY: Routledge.
- American Academy of Pediatrics (2003). Caring for your teenager: The complete and authoritative guide. New York, NY: Banton Dell.
- American Association of Suicidology (2014). *USA Suicide: 2014 Official Final Data*Retrieved from the Suicidology website
 http://www.suicidology.org/Portals/14/docs/resources/FactSheets/2014/datapgsv
 b.pdf.

- Anderson, K., and Overy, K. (2010). Engaging Scottish young offenders in education through music and art. *International Journal of Community Music*, *3*, 47-64. doi:10.1037/19313918.2.4.183
- Anyon, Y., Jenson, J. M., Altschul, I., Farrar, J., McQueen, J., Greer, E., Downing, B. & Simmons, J. (2014). The persistent effect of race and the promise of alternatives to suspension in school discipline outcomes. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 44, 379-386. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2014.06.025
- Armistead, L., Forehand, R., Brody, G., & Maguen, S. (2002). Parenting and child psychosocial adjustment in single-parent African American families: Is community context important? *Behavior Therapy*, *33*, 361-375. doi: 10.1016/S0005-7894(02)80033-8.
- Arnull, E., Eagle, S., Gammampila, A., Patel, S.L., Sadler, J., and Thomas, S. (2007). Accommodation Needs of Young People Who Have Offended. London: Youth Justice Board.
- Ball, J., Armistead, L., & Austin, B.J. (2003). The relationship between religiosity and adjustment among African-American, female, urban adolescents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 26, 431-446. doi:10.1016/S0140-1971(03)00037-X.
- Ball, J. (2011). I mix what I like. Oakland, CA: AK Press.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Baskin, M. L., Thind, H., Affuso, O., Gary, L. C., LaGory, M., & Hwang, S. S. (2013). Predictors of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity in African American young adolescents. *Annals of Behavior Medicine*, *45*, 142-150. doi: 10.1007/s12160 012-9437-7.
- Beh, G., & Diamond, M. (2006). The failure of abstinence-only education: Minors have a right to honest talk about sex. *Columbia Journal of Gender and Law*, 15, 12-62. doi:10.1023/A:1009994030661
- Belgrave, F. & Brevard, J. K. (2015). *African American boys: identity, culture & development*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Berg, C., Choi, W.S., Kaur, H., Nollen, N., & Ahluwalia, J.S. (2009). The role of parenting, church attendance, and depression in adolescent smoking. *Journal of Community Health*, *34*, 56-63. doi:10.1007/s10900-008-9118-4
- Berry, V. T. (1990). Rap music, self-concept and low income black adolescents. *Popular Music and Society, 14,* 89-107. doi: 10.1080/03007769008591404

- Billy, J. O. G., Brewster, K. L., & Grady, W. R. (1994). Contextual effects on the sexual behavior of adolescent women. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *56*, 387-404. doi: 10.2307/353107
- Binder, A. (1993). Constructing racial rhetoric: Media depictions of harm in heavy metal and rap music. *American Sociological Review*, 58, 753-767. ISSN: 00031224
- Bittman, B., Dickson, L. and Coddington, K. (2009). Creative musical expression as a catalyst for quality-of-life improvement in inner-city adolescents placed in a court referred residential treatment program. *Advances in Mind-Body Medicine*, 24, 8-19. ISSN: 20671333
- Bouhuys, A. L., Bloem, G. M., & Groothuis, T. G. (1995). Induction of depressed and elated mood by music influences the perception of facial emotional expressions in healthy subjects. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *33*, 215-226. doi: 10.1016/0165 0327(94)00092-N
- Bowers, J. R., Rosch, D.M., & Collier, D.A. (2016). Examining the relationship between role models and leadership growth during the transition to adulthood. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 31, 96-118. doi: 10.1177/0743558415576570
- Bozza, A. (2001, May). *Rap's reform party*. Retrieved from Rolling Stones Magazine website www.rollingstone.com/music.
- Bradshaw, C. P., Sawyer, A. L., & O'Brennan, L. M. (2007). Bullying and peer victimization at school: Perceptual differences between students and school staff. *School Psychology Review*, *36*(3), 361–382. Retrieved from National Association of School Psychology website http://www.nasponline.org.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Brown, E. J., & Wells, S. (2005). A faith-based integrated substance abuse and HIV prevention program for rural African American adolescents. *Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association*, 11, 344-350. doi: 10.1177/1078390305284490
- Brown, V. (2006). Guiding the influence of hip-hop music on middle school students' feelings, thinking, and behaving. *The Negro Educational Review*, 57(1), 49-68. Retrieved from http://www.oma.osu.edu/vice_provost/ner/index.html.

- Bryant, A. L., & Zimmerman, M. A. (2003). Role models and psychosocial outcomes among African American adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, *18*, 36 -67. doi: 10.1177/0743558402238276.
- Cadena, C. (2006, September 11). Christian hip-hop music: A controversial musical approach. Retrieved from Yahoo Christian Hip Hop Information http://voices.yahoo.com/christian-hip-hop-music-controversial-musicalapproach.html
- Carter, D. (2009). Playing with fire. On *The Carter 3* [CD]. Miami, FL: Cash Money Records.
- Cauce, A. M., Hiraga, Y., Graves, D., Gonzales, N., Ryan-Finn, K., & Grove, K. (1996). African American mothers and their adolescent daughters: Closeness, conflict & control. In N. Way (Ed.), *Urban girls: Resisting stereotypes, creating identities* (p. 100-116). New York: NYU Press.
- Cella, D. F., Tulsky, D. S., Sarafian, B., Thomas, C. R., Jr. and Thomas, C. R., Sr. (1992). Culturally relevant smoking prevention for minority youth. *Journal of School Health*, *113*, 255-269. doi: 10.1111/j.1746-1561.1992.tb02327.x.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2006). Cigarette use among high school students in United States, 1991–2005. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 55, 724-726. Retrieved from Centre for Disease Control and Prevention website www.cdc.gov.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015). National Vital Statistics Reports, *64*, 1-64. Retrieved from Centre for Disease Control and Prevention website http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/deaths.htm
- Center for Mental Health in Schools at UCLA (2008). Conduct and behavior problems related to school age youth. Los Angeles, CA: Author.
- Chang, J. (2005). Can't stop won't stop: A history of the hip hop generation. New York, NY: St. Martin's Press.
- Cheung, A., Dewa, C., Caimey, J., Weldhuizen, S., & Schaffer, A. (2009). Factors associated with use of mental health services for depressed and or suicidal youth aged 15-24. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 45, 300-306.
- Chung, R., Bemak, F., & Talleyrand, R. (2007). Mentoring within the field of counseling: A preliminary study of multicultural perspectives. *International Journal of Advanced Counseling*, 29, 21-32. doi:10.1007/s10447-006-9025-2.

- Clark, T. T., Belgrave, F. Z., & Nasim, A. (2008). Risk and protective factors for substance use among urban African American adolescents considered high-risk. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, 7, 292–303. doi: 10.1080/15332640802313296
- Clark, T. T., Belgrave, F. Z., & Abell, M. (2012). The mediating and moderating effects of parent and peer influences upon drug use among African American adolescents. *Journal of Black Psychology*, *38*, 52-80. doi:10.1177/0095798411403617.
- Clay, A. (2006). "All I need is one mic": Mobilizing youth for social change in the post-civil rights era. *Social Justice*, *33*, 105-121. Retrieved from www.socialjusticejournal.org
- Connor-Smith, J.K., Compas, B. E., Wadsworth, M. E., Thomsen, A. H. & Saltzman, H. (2000). Responses to stress in adolescence: Measurement of coping and involuntary stress responses. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68, 976-992. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.68.6.976
- Corbin, J. & Strauss, A. (2007). *Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory, 3rd Edition.* Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications.
- Council on Children and Families (2010, June 9). *Adverse childhood experiences among New York adults*. Retrieved from Council on Children and Families website http://www.ccf.state.ny.us/Initiatives/KidsCountRelate/kcResources/ACE_Brief wo.pdf
- Council on Communications and Media (2009). Impact of music, music lyrics, and music videos on youth. *Pediatrics*, *124*, 1488-1494. Retrieved from Pediatrics website http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/124/5/1488.
- Cromie, W. J. (1998). *Music videos promote adolescent aggression*. Retrieved from Gazette website http://www.news.harvard.edu/gazette/1998/04.09/MusicVideosProm.html.
- Crosby, R., DiClemente, R. J., Wingood, G. M., Sionean, C., Harrington, K., Davies, S. L., Oh, K., & Hook, E. (2002). Pregnant African-American teens are less likely than their nonpregnant peers to use condoms. *Preventive Medicine*, *34*, 524-528. doi:10.1006/pmed.2002.1014
- Cui, S., Cheng, Z., Xu, Z., Chen, D., & Yang, Y. (2011). Peer relationships and suicide ideation and attempts among Chinese adolescents. *Child: Care, Health & Development, 37*, 692-702. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2214.2010.01181.x

- Cundiff, G. (2013). The influence of rap and hip-hop music: an analysis on audience perceptions of misogynistic lyrics. *Elon Journal of Undergraduate Research in Communications*, 4, 1-15. http://www.inquiriesjournal.com/articles/792/the influence-of-rap-and-hip-hop-music-an-analysis-on-audience-perceptions-of misogynistic-lyrics.
- Dalton, T. A., & Krout, R. E. (2006). The grief song-writing process with bereaved adolescents: An integrated grief model and music therapy protocol. *Music Therapy Perspectives*, 24, 94-107. doi: 10.1080/07481189508252737
- Daykin, N., De Viggiani, N., Pilkington, P. & Moriarty, Y. (2012). *Music making for health, well-being and behavior change in youth justice settings: a systematic review.* Bristol, UK: Oxford University.
- Daykin, N., Orme, J., Evans, D., Salmon, D., McEachran, M., and Brain, S. (2008). The impact of participation in performing arts on adolescent health and behavior: a systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *13*, 251-264. doi: 10.1177/1359105307086699
- DeCarlo, A., & Hockman, E. (2003). Rap therapy: A group-work intervention method for urban adolescents. *Social Work with Groups*, 26, 45–59. doi:10.1300/J009v26n03_06
- Denzin, N.K., & Lincoln, Y.S. (2003). *Qualitative research design. An interactive approach.* Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Delivering healthcare for the homeless (2003, May 12). Retrieved from http://www.deliveringhealthcaretothehomeless-youthfactsheet.mht
- Dolev-Cohen, M., & Barak, A. (2012). Adolescents' use of instant messaging as a means of emotional relief. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29, 58-63. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.07.016
- Donahue, M. J., & Benson, P. L. (1995). Religion and well-being of adolescents. *Journal of Social Issues*, *51*, 145-160. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4560.1995.tb01328.x
- Dorsman, J. (1998). How to quit drugs for good. Roseville, CA: Prima.
- Dotterer, A. M., McHale, S. M., & Crouter, A. C. (2007). Implications of out-of-school activities for school engagement in African American adolescents. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, *36*, 391-401. doi: 10.1007/s10964-006-9161-3

- Douglas, C., Lee, S., & Jah, Y. (1997). Fight the power: Rap, race, and reality. NewYork, NY: Delta.
- Duncan, S. C., Seeley, J. R., Gau, J. M., Strycker, L. A., & Farmer, R. F. (2012). A latent growth model of adolescent physical activity as a function of depressive symptoms. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, *5*, 57-65. doi: 10.1177/1359105308100216
- Dylan, B. (1965). Subterranean Homesick Blues [Recorded by Bob Dylan]. On *Bringing it All Back Home* [CD]. New York, NY: Columbia Records.
- Dyson, M. E. (2001). *Holler if you hear me: Searching for tupac shakur*. New York, NY: Basic Civitas.
- Eberstadt, M. (2005). *Eminem is right*. Retrieved from Orthodoxy Today website http://www.orthodoxytoday.org/articles5/EberstadtEminem.php.
- Elkouby, S. (2013, September 30). *The power of hip-hop culture*. Retrieved from Rap Rehab website www.raprehab.com.
- Elligan, D. (2004). Rap therapy: A practical guide for communicating with youth and young adults through rap music. New York, NY: Kensington Publishing.
- Ennett, S. T., & Bauman, K. E. (1991). Mediators in the relationship between parental and peer characteristics and beer drinking in early adolescents. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *21*, 1699-1711. doi: 10.1111/j.1559 1816.1991.tb00499.x
- Erikson, E. (1968). *Identity, youth and crisis*. New York, NY: Norton.
- Evans, T. D., Cullen, F. T., Burton, V. S., Dunaway Jr., R. G., Payne, G. L., & Kethineni, S. R. (1995). Religion, social bonds, and delinquency. *Deviant Behavior*, *17*, 43-70. doi:10.1080/01639625.1996.9968014
- Evans, D. J. (2010). The challenge of treating conduct disorder in low-resourced settings: rap music to the rescue. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 22,145-152. doi:10.2989/17280583.2010.528581
- Faler, B. (2005, September 30). Bennett under fire for remark on crime and black abortions. Retrieved from http://www.washingtonpost.com.
- First place 4 health: the bible's way to weight loss (2012, August 8). Retrieved from http://www.firstplace4health.com.

- Finn, J. D. (1989). Withdrawing from school. *Review of Educational Research*, *59*, 117-142. doi: 10.3102/00346543059002117
- Fletcher, A. C., Steinberg, L., & Williams-Wheeler, M. (2004). Parental influences on adolescent behavior. *Child Development*, 75, 781-796. doi: 10.1111/j.1467 8624.2004.00706.x
- Forehand, R., Brody, G. H., Armistead, L., Dorsey, S., & Morse, E. (2000). The role of community risks and resources in the psychosocial adjustment of at-risk children: An examination across two community contexts and two informants. *Behavior Therapy*, *31*,395-414. doi:10.1016/S0005-7894(00)80022-2
- Frydenlund, Z. (2015, January 12). Common and John Legend won the best original song award at the golden globes. Retrieved from www.complex.com.
- Gamble, H. L., Parra, G. R., & Beech, B. M. (2009). Moderators of physical activity and obesity during adolescence. *Eating Behaviors*, *10*, 232-236. doi:10.1016/j.eatbeh.2009.07.005
- Game, The (2005). Don't worry. On *The Documentary* [CD]. New York, NY: G Unit.
- Gaylord-Harden, N. K., Cunningham, J. A., Holmbeck, G. N., & Grant, K. E. (2010). Suppressor effects in coping research with African American adolescents from low income communities. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78, 843-855. doi:10.1037/a0020063
- George, N. (1998). *Hip-hop America*. New York, NY: Viking Penguin, ISBN:0-14 028022-7
- Gibbs, T.A., Okuda, M., Oquendo, M.A., Lawson, W.B., Wang, S., Thomas, Y.F. & Blanco, C. (2013). Mental health of African Americans and Caribbean blacks in the United States: Results from the National Epidemiological Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103, 330-338. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2012.300891
- Gilk, D., Nowak, G., Valente, T., Sapsis, K., & Martin, C. (2002). Youth performing an entertainment-education for HIV/AIDS prevention and health promotion: Practice and research. *Journal of Health Communication*, 7, 39-57. doi: 10.1080/10810730252801183
- Gooding, L., & Mori-Inoue, S. (2011). The effect of music video exposure on students' perceived clinical applications of popular music in the field of music therapy: A pilot study. *Journal of Music Therapy*, 48, 90-102. doi: 10.2307/3345582

- Gordon, C. (2011, May 15). Teachers use hip-hop to educate students. Retrieved from http://jobs.aol.com.
- Gottfredson, M., & Hirschi, T. (1990). *A general theory of crime*. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Greger, H. K., Myhre, A. K., Lydersen, S., & Jozefiak, T. (2015). Previous maltreatment and present mental health in a high-risk adolescent population. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 45, 122-134. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.05.003
- Greitemeyer, T. (2009). Effects of songs with prosocial lyrics on prosocial thoughts, affect, and behavior. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 45, 186-190. doi: 10.1177/0146167209341648
- Guzman, T.A.(2013, June 23). Why does music industry keep underground hip hop underground. Retrieved from www.globalresearch.ca
- Haaken, J., Wallin-Ruschman, J., & Patange, S. (2011). Global hip-hop identities: Black youth, psychoanalytic action research, and the Moving to the Beat Project. *Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology*, 22, 63-74. doi: 10.1002/casp.1097
- Hadley, S. & Yancy, G. (2008). *Therapeutic uses of rap and hip-hop*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hager, S. (1984). *Hip-hop: The illustrated history of break dancing, rap music and graffiti.* New York, NY: St. Martin's Press.
- Hakvoort, L. (2015). Rap music therapy in forensic psychiatry: emphasis on the musical approach to rap. *Music Therapy Perspectives*, *33*, 184-192. doi:10.1093/mtp/miv003.
- Hannon, L., DeFina, R., & Bruch, S. (2013). The relationship between skin tone and school suspension for African Americans. *Race and Social Problems*, *5*, 281-295. doi: 10.1007/s12552-013-9104-z.
- Harper, F. D., Guilbault, M., Tucker, T., & Austin, T. (2007). Happiness as a goal of counseling: Cross-cultural implications. *International Journal of Advance Counseling*, 29, 123-136. doi:10.1007/s10447-007-9030-0
- Hendricks, C. B., & Bradley, L. J. (2005). Interpersonal theory and music techniques: A case study for a family with a depressed adolescent. *The Family Journal*, *15*, 400-405. doi:10.1177/1066480705278469

- Henry, D. & Stein, C. (1981). Rapture [Recorded by Blondie]. On *Autoamerican* [CD]. New York, NY: Chrysalis Records.
- Hicks-Harper, P. T., Rhodes, W. A., Thomas, D. E., Leary, G., & Quinton, S. L. (2007). Hip hop development: bridging the generational divide for youth development. Retrieved from http://www.nae4ha.com/assets/documents/JYD-070202final.pdf.
- Higgins, G. E. (2010). *Race, crime and delinquency: A criminological theory approach*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Hill, A., Rettenberger, M., Habermann, N., Berner, W., Eher, R., & Briken, P. (2012). The utility of risk assessment instruments for the prediction of recidivism in sexual homicide perpetrators. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 27, 3553-3578. doi: 10.1177/0886260512447570
- Hine, D. C., Hine, W. C., & Harrold, S. (2000). *The African-American odyssey Volume* 2: Since 1863. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Holcombe, R. G. (Ed.). (1999). *15 Great Austrian Economists*. Auburn, Ala: Ludwig von Mises Institute.
- Holcomb-McCoy, C. (2005). Social skills instruction with African American students: Implications for school counselors. *Counseling Interviewer*, *37*, 10-17. doi: 10.1177/1066480703258615
- Hong, T., Rice, J., & Johnson, C. (2012). Ethnic group and temporal influences on social norms: Smoking behavior among panel of adolescents. *Journal of Communication*, 62, 158-174. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2011.01623.x
- Hopps, J. G., Tourse, R. W. C., & Christian, O. (2009). From problems to personal resilience. *Journal of Ethnic and Cultural Diversity in Social Work: Innovation in Theory, Research & Practice, 11,* 55-77. doi:10.1300/J051v11n01_03
- Hurt, T. R., Brody, G. H., Murry, V. M., Berkel, C., & Chen, Y. (2013). Elucidating parenting processes that influence adolescent alcohol use: A qualitative inquiry. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 28, 3-30. doi: 10.1177/0743558412447851
- Ierardi, F. & Jenkins, N. (2012). Rap composition and improvisation in a short-term juvenile detention facility. In S. Hadley & G. Yancy. *Therapeutic uses of rap and hip-hop* (p.253-275). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Ilich, T. (2017). Reggaeton Music Roots and Characteristics. Retrieved from latinmusic.about.com/od/genres/p/PRO019BASIC.htm.

- Irvin, M. J. (2012). Role of student engagement in the resilience of African American adolescents from low-income rural communities. *Psychology in the Schools*, 49, 176-194. doi:10.1002/pits.20626
- Iwamoto, D. K., Creswell, J., & Caldwell, L. D. (2007). Feeling the beat: The meaning of rap music for ethnically diverse Midwestern college students: a phenomenological study. *Adolescence*, *42*, 337-351. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17849940
- Jenkins, J. W. (2008). My president [Recorded by Young Jeezy]. On *The Recession* [CD]. New York, NY: Def Jam Recordings.
- Kelly, N. R., Mazzeo, S. E., Evans, R. K., Stern, M., Thacker, L. F., Thornton, L. M., & Laver, J. H. (2011). Physical activity, fitness and psychosocial functioning of obese adolescents. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 4, 31-37. doi:10.1016/j.mhpa.2010.11.001
- Kim-Spoon, J., Holmes, C., & Deater-Deckard, K. (2015). Attention regulates anger and fear to predict changes in adolescent risk-taking behaviors. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 56, 756-765. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12338
- Kircheimer, S. (2003, October 10). *Does rap music put teens at risk?* Retrieved from http://www.webmd.com.
- Kitwana, B. (2002). *The Hip-hop generation: Young blacks and the crisis in American culture*. New York, NY: Basic Civitas.
- Kobin, C., & Tyson, E. H. (2007). Hip hop in therapy: Empathic connections and thematic goals for treatment with clients from urban settings. *Arts in Psychotherapy*, *33*, 343-356. doi:10.1016/j.aip.2006.05.001
- Koffman, S., Ray, A., Berg, S., Covington, L., Albarran, N. M., & Vasquez, M. (2009). Impact of a comprehensive whole child intervention and prevention program among youth at risk of gang involvement and other forms of delinquency. *Children & Schools*, *31*, 239-245. doi:10.1093/cs/31.4.239
- Kogan, S. M., Yu, T., Brody, G. H., Chen, Y., Diclemente, R. J., Wingood, G. M., & Corso, P. S.(2012). Integrated condom skills into family-centered prevention: efficacy of the strong African American families-teen program. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *6*, 102-114. doi: 10.1016/j.adohealth.2011.11.022

- Kolbert, J. B., Crothers, L. M., & Field, J. E. Clinical interventions with adolescents using a family systems approach. *The Family Journal: Counseling and Therapy for Couples and Families*, 21, 87-94. doi: 10.1177/1066480712456826
- Knight, D. K., Dansereau, D. F., Becan, J. E., Rowan, G. A., & Flynn, P. M. (2015).
 Effectiveness of a theoretically-based judgment and decision making intervention for adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 44, 1024-1038. doi: 10.1007/s10964-014-0127-6
- Kubrin, C. (2005). Gangsta, thugs, and hustlas: Identity and the code of the street in rap music. *Social Problems*, *52*, 360-378. doi:10.1525/sp.2005.52.3.360
- Laiho, S. (2004). The psychological functions of music in adolescence. *Nordic Journal of Music Therapy*, *13*, 47-53. doi:10.1080/08098130409478097
- Liang, B., Spencer, R., West, J., & Rappaport, N. (2013). Expanding the reach of youth mentoring: partnering with youth for personal growth and social change. *Journal of Adolescence*, *36*(2), 257-267. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2012.10.002.
- Lightstone, A. J. (2012). Yo, can ya flow! Research findings on hip-hop aesthetics and rap therapy in an urban youth shelter. In S. Hadley & G. Yancy. *Therapeutic uses of rap and hip-hop* (p. 211-253). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Litman, C. S. (1997). Effects of rap music on verbal and non-verbal aggressive and disruptive behavior [Abstract]. *Dissertation Abstracts International section B the Sciences & Engineering*, 57, 6581.
- Lozon, J., & Bensimon, M. (2014). Music misuse: A review of the personal and collective roles of "problem music." *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *19*, 207-218. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2014.04.003.
- Lum, C. (2008). Beyond music lessons: Subject teachers' use of music in the classroom. *Research Studies in the Music Education*, *56*, 101-107. doi: 10.1177/1321103X08097504
- Lynn, L. R., & Stephens, J. R. (2015). Glory. On *Selma Movie Soundtrack* [CD]. London, UK: EMI Music Publishings.
- Martin, M. A., & Metha, A. (1997). Recall of early childhood memories through musical mood induction. *Arts in Psychotherapy*, 25, 447-454. doi:10.1016/S0197 4556(97)00020-8

- Masse, R., Poulin, C., Dassa, C., Lambert, J., Belair, S. & Battaglini, A. (1998). The structure of mental health: higher order confirmatory factor analyses of psychological distress & well-being measures. Social Indicators Research, 475-504. doi:10.1023/A.1006992032387.
- Masten, A. S.; Best, K. M.; Garmezy, N. (1990). Resilience and development: Contributions from the study of children who overcome adversity. *Development and Psychopathology*, 2, 425–444. doi:10.1017/S0954579400005812
- Masten, A. S. (1994). Resilience in individual development: Successful adaptation despite risk and adversity. In M. Wang & E.W. Gordon (Eds.), Educational resilience in inner-city America (p. 3-25). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Mathis, S. M. (2006, September 27). Rap is killing our youth. Retrieved from http://voices.yahoo.com/rap-killing-our-youth-86422.html.
- Matlin, S. L., Davis, S., & Tebes, J. K. (2011). Suicidality and depression among African American adolescents: The role of the family and peer support and community connectedness. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 81, 108-117. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-0025.2010.01078.x
- Maxwell, J.A. (2005). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Mayo Clinic Staff (2012, August 1). *Stress Management*. Retrieved from Mayo Clinic website www.mayoclinic.com/health/social-support/SR00033.
- McClurkin, D. (2000). We fall down. On *Live in London and More* [CD]. New York, NY: Verity Records.
- McCormick, M. P., Cappella, E., O'Connor, E. E., & McClowry, S. G. (2013). Parental involvement, emotional support and behavioral problems: An ecological approach. *Elementary School Journal*, 114(2), 277-300. Retrieved from http://steinhardt.nyu.edu/scmsAdmin/media/users/sm6/McCormick_2013_parent_involvement.pdf.
- McElderry, C. G. & Cheng, T. C. (2014). Understanding the discipline gap from an ecological perspective. *Children & Schools*, *36*, 241-249. doi: 10.1093/cs/cdu020
- McFerran, K.S. & Saarikallio, S. (2014). Depending on music to feel better: being conscious of responsibility when appropriating the power of music. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 41, 89-97. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2013.11.007.

- McLean, P. E. (1997). Age ain't nothing but a number: A cross-cultural reading of popular music in the construction of sexual expression among at-risk adolescents. *Popular Music and Society*, *21*, 1-15. doi:10.1080/03007769708591665
- Meadows-Ingram, B. (1999, October 9). Rappers rock a different chain: Hip-hop and slavery in the 1990s. Retrieved from http://www.journalism.nyu.edu.
- Mesch, G., & Talmud, I. (2010). Wired youth: The social world of adolescence in the information age. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Miranda, D., & Claes, M. (2004). Rap music genres and deviant behaviors in French Canadian adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *33*, 113-122. doi: 10.1023/B:JOYO.0000013423.34021.45
- Miranda-Chan, T., Fruiht, V., Dubon, V., & Wray-Lake, L. (2016). The functions and longitudinal outcomes of adolescents' naturally occurring mentorships. American Journal of Community Psychology, 57, 47-59. doi:10.1002/ajcp.12031.
- Myers, L. L. (2013). Substance use among rural African American adolescents: Identifying risk and protective factors. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, *30*, 79-93. doi:10.1007/s10560-012-0280-2
- National Institute on Drug Abuse (2014). *Principles of adolescent substance usedisorder treatment. A research-based guide (NIH Publication No. 14-7953).* Retrieved from http://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/principles-adolescent-substance use-disorder-treatment-research-based-guide.
- North, A. C., & Hargreaves, D. (2000). The importance of music to adolescents. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 70, 255-272. doi:10.1348/000709900158083
- O'Brennan, L., Bradshaw, C. P., & Sawyer, A. L. (2009). Examining developmental differences in the social-emotional problems among frequent bullies, victims, and bully/victims. *Psychology in the Schools, 46,* 100-115. doi:10.1002/pits.20357
- O'Brien, M., Margolin, G., & John, R. S. (1995). Relation among marital conflict, child coping, and child adjustment. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 24, 346-361. doi:10.1207/s15374424jccp2403_12
- Oetting, E. R., & Donnermeyer, J. F. (1998). Primary socialization theory: The etiology of drug use and deviance. *Substance Use and Misuse*, *33*, 995-1026. doi: 10.3109/10826089809056252
- Ogbar, J. (2010). *Hip hop revolution: The culture and politics of rap*. Lawrence, KS: University Press of Kansas.

- Ogden, C. L., Carroll, M. D., & Flegal, K. M. (2008). High body mass index for age among US children and adolescents, 2003-2006. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 299, 2401-2405. doi:10.1001/jama.299.20.2401
- Olweus, D. (1993). *Bullying at school: What we know and what we can do.* Cambridge, MA: Blackwell.
- Osofsky, J. D., Wewers, S., Hann, D. M., & Fick, A. C. (1993). Chronic community violence: What is happening to our children? *Psychiatry: Interpersonal and Biological Processes Special Issue: Children and Violence*, *56*, 36-45. doi: 10.1080/00332747.2015.1069660
- Oster, M. M. (2008). Saying one thing and doing another: The paradox of best practices and sex education. *American Journal of Sexuality Education*, *3*, 117-148. doi:10.1080/15546120802104302
- Oware, M. (2011). Decent daddy, imperfect daddy: Black male rap artists' views of fatherhood and the family. *Journal of African American Studies*, *15*, 327-351. doi: 10.1177/0021934707302454
- Parent, J., Jones, D. J., Forehand, R., Cuellar, J., & Shoulberg, E. K. (2013). The role of coparents in African American single-mother families: The indirect effect of co-parent identity on youth psychosocial adjustment. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 27, 252-262. doi: 10.1037/a0031477
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (3rd Ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Pea, R., Nass, C., Meheula, L., Rance, M., Kumar, A., Bamford, H., Nass, M., Simha, A., Stillerman, B., Yang, S., & Zhou, M. (2012). Media use, face-to-face communication, media multitasking, and social well-being among 8 to 12 year old girls. *Developmental Psychology*, 48, 327-336. doi:10.1037/a0027030
- Pearson, J., Muller, C., & Frisco, M. (2006). Parental involvement, family structure, and adolescent sexual decision making. *Sociological Perspectives*, 49, 67-90. doi: 10.1525/sop.2006.49.1.67
- Pettit, G. S., Laird, R. D., Dodge, K. A., Bates, J. E., & Criss, M. M. (2001). Antecedents and behavior-problem outcomes of parental monitoring and psychological control in early adolescence. *Child Development*, 72, 583-598. doi:10.1111/1467 8624.00298

- Peterson, A. C., Sarigiani, P. A., & Kennedy, R. E. (1991). Adolescent depression: why more girls? *Journal of Youth Adolescence*, 20(2), 247-271. doi: 10.1007/BF01537611
- Pickhardt, C. (2012 January 9). Adolescence and the myth of independence. Retrieved from www.psychologytoday.com/blog/surviving-your-child-adolescence.
- Pisani, A. R., Schmeelk-Cone, K., Gunzler, D., Petrova, M., Goldston, D. B., Tu, X., & Wyman, P. A. (2012). Associations between suicidal high school students' help seeking and their attitudes and perceptions of social environment. *Journal of Youth Adolescence*, 41, 1312-1324. doi:10.1007/s10964-012-9766-7
- Pomerantz, E. M., Grolnick, W. S., & Price, C. E. (2005). The role of parents and children and how they approach achievement. In A.J. Elliot and C.S. Dweck (Eds.), Handbook of Competence and Motivation (p. 259-278). New York, NY: Guilford.
- Pomeroy, D. (1983). Cooky Puss [Recorded by Beastie Boys]. On Cooky Puss [CD]. New York: Rat Cage Records.
- Pomery, E. A., Gibbons, F. X., Genard, M., Cleveland, M. J., Brody, G. H. & Wills, T. A. (2005). Families and risk: prospective analyses of familial and social influences on adolescent substance use. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *19*, 560-570. doi:10.1037/0893-3200.19.4.560
- Porter, M. (2006). *Rap and the eroticizing of Black youth*. Chicago, IL: African American Images.
- Prelow, H. M., Bowman, M. A., & Weaver, S. R. (2007). Predictors of psychosocial well-being in urban African American and European American youth: the role of ecological factors. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, *36*, 543-553. doi: 10.1007/s10964-006-9038-5
- Primack, B. A., Gold, M. A., Schwarz, E. B., & Dalton, M. A. (2008). Degrading and non-degrading sex in popular music: A content analysis. *Public Health Reports*, *123*, 593-600. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2496932/
- Rainie, L., Purcell, K., & Smith, A. (2011 July 10). *The social side of the internet*. Retrieved from Pew Internet website http://www.pewinternet.org/~/media//Files/Reports/2011/

- Reyes, J. A., Elias, M. J., Parker, S. J., & Rosenblatt, J. L. (2013). Promoting educational equity for disadvantaged youth: The role of resilience and social-emotional learning. In S. Goldstein & R. B. Brooks (Eds.), *Handbook of resilience in children*. New York: Springer.
- Rhodes, J. E., Ebert, L., & Fischer, K. (1992). Natural mentors: An overlooked resource in the social networks of youth, African American mothers. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 20, 445-462. doi: 10.1007/BF00937754
- Rhodes, H. A. (1993, April 4). The evolution of rap music in the United States. Retrieved from Yale website http://www.yale.edu/ynhti/curriculum/units/1993/4/93.04.04.x.html
- Rickson, D. J. (2006). Instructional & improvisational models of music therapy with adolescents who have ADHD: A comparison of the effects on motor impulsivity. *Journal of Music Therapy*, *43*, 39-62. doi: 10.1093/jmt/43.1.39.
- Roberts, R. E., Alegria, M., Roberts, C. R., & Chen, I. G. (2005). Mental health problems of adolescents as reported by their caregivers. *The Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, 32, 1-13. doi: 10.1007/BF02287324
- Robertson, J. C. (2002). *Natural Prozac: Learning to release your body's own antidepressants*. San Francisco, CA: Harper One.
- Rogers, M. J., & Holmbeck, G. N. (1997). Effects of interparental aggression on children's adjustment: The moderating role of cognitive appraisal and coping. *Journal of Family Psychology, 11*, 125-130. doi:10.1037/0893-3200.11.1.125
- Rose, T. (1994). *Black noise: Rap music and Black culture in contemporary America*. Middletown, CT: Wesleyan University Press
- Rose, T. (2008). *The hip-hop wars*. New York, NY: BasicCivitas Books.
- Ross, R. (2008). I'm only human. On *Trilla* [CD]. New York, NY: Def Jam Recordings.
- Round Table of Hip Hop (2009, August 8). *Slavery's connection to hip hop*. Retrieved from Straight Outta Hip Hop website http://straightouttahiphop.com.
- Rudolph, K. D., & Hammen, C. (1999). Age and gender as determinants of stress exposure, generation, and reactions in youngsters: A transactional perspective. *Child Development*, 70, 660-677. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00048

- Rutherford, K. (2015 February 22). *John legend and common deliver emotional performance*. Retrieved from Radio website www.radio.com.
- Ryan, J. P., Williams, A. B., & Courtney, M. E. (2013). Adolescent neglect, juvenile delinquency, and the risk of recidivism. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 42, 454-465. doi: 10.1007/s10964-013-9906-8
- Saarikallio, S. (2006). Differences in adolescents' use of music in mood regulation. *Music Perception and Cognition*, 24, 953-958. doi: 10.1037/t15022-000
- Salem, D. A., Zimmerman, M. A., & Nataro, P. C. (1998). Effects of family structure, family process, and father involvement on psychosocial outcomes of African American adolescents. *Family Relations*, 47, 331-341. doi:10.2307/585264
- Sandler, L. N., Kim-Bae, L. S. & Mackinnon, D. (2000). Coping & negative appraisal as mediators between control beliefs and psychological symptoms in children of divorce. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 29, 336-347. doi: 10.1207/s15374424JCCP29035.
- Santiago, C. D., & Wadsworth, M. E. (2009). Coping with family conflict: what's helpful and what's not for low-income adolescents. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *18*, 192-202. doi: 10.1007/s10826-008-9219-9
- Saulsberry, A., Corden, M. E., Taylor-Crawford, K., Crawford, T. J., Johnson, M.,
 Froemel, J., Walls, A., Fogel, J., Marko-Holguin, M., & Van Voorhies, B. W.
 (2013). Chicago Urban Resiliency Building: An internet-based depression prevention intervention for urban African-American and Latino adolescents.
 Journal of Child and Family Studies, 22, 150-160. doi: 10.1007/s10826-012 9627-8
- Schafer, T., Sedlmeier, P., Stadtler, C. & Huron, D. (2013). The psychological functions of music listening. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *4*, 1-31. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00511
- Schmeelk-Cone, K. H. & Zimmerman, M. A. (2003). A longitudinal analysis of stress in African American youth: predictors and outcomes of stress trajectories. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *32*, 419-430. doi: 10.1023/A:1025934301468
- Schorn, D. (2009, February 9). Stop snitchin'. Retrieved from www.cbsnews.com/ 8301 18560 162-2704565.html.
- Schwartz, S.E.O., Rhodes, J.E., Spencer, R., & Grossman, J.B. (2013). Youth initiated

- mentoring: investigating a new approach to working with vulnerable adolescents. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *52*, 155-169. doi: 10.1007/s10464 013-9585-3.
- Scott, P. (2012, January 23). *Slavery is back in effect: Rap, race and republicans*. Retrieved from All Hip Hop website http://allhiphop.com.
- Seaton, E. K., Yip, T., Morgan-Lopez, A., & Sellers, R. M. (2012). Racial discrimination and racial socialization as predictors of African American adolescents' racial identity development using latent transition analysis. *Developmental Psychology*, 48, 448-458. doi:10.1037/a0025328
- Shakur, T. (1995). Me Against the World. On Me Against the World [CD]. New York, NY: Interscope Records.
- Shorey, R. C., Fite, P. J., Choi, H., Cohen, J. R., Stuart, G. L., & Temple, J. R. (2015). Dating violence and substance use as longitudinal predictors of adolescents' risky sexual behavior. *Prevention Science*, *16*, 853-861. doi: 10.1007/s11121-015 0556-9
- Skiba, R. J., Michael, R. S., Nardo, A. C., & Peterson, R. L. (2002). The color of discipline: Sources of racial and gender disproportionality in school punishment. *The Urban Review*, 317-342. doi: 10.1023/A:1021320817372
- Smetana, J., & Gaines, C. (1999). Adolescent-parent conflict in middle-class African American families. *Child Development*, 70, 1447-1463. doi:10.1111/1467 8624.00105
- Souljah, S. (1992). The Final Solution: Slavery Back in Effect. On *360 Degrees of Power* [CD]. New York, NY: Epic Records.
- Steen, S., & Bemak, F. (2008). Group work with high school students at risk of school failure: A pilot study. *Journal for Specialists in Group Work, 33*, 335-350. doi: 10.1080/01933920802404144
- Stephenson, S. D., & Iannone, R. (2006). A drug evaluation curriculum with drama as its base: The target project. *College Student Journal*, 40, 631-640. doi: 10.1080/0968763021000018900
- Sue, D. W. (2006). *Multicultural social work practice*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.

- Talleyrand, R. M. (2010). Eating disorders in African American girls: Implications for counselors. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 88, 319-324. doi: 10.1002/15566678201000028
- Taylor, R. D., Casten, R., & Flickinger, S. M. (1993). Influence of kinship support on the parenting experiences and psychosocial adjustment of African American adolescents. *Developmental Psychology*, 29, 382-388. doi: 10.1037/00121649292382
- Teen Peer Pressure: Statistics and facts (2004). Retrieved from www.familyfirstaid.org/peer pressure.html.
- Thao, P. (2010). The impact of rap & hip-hop music on American youth. Retrieved from www.teenink.com.
- Thomas, B. (2011). *Creative expression activities for teens: exploring identity through art, craft & journaling, 1st edition.* London, United Kingdom: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Tolan, P.H. & Gorman-Smith, D. (2003). What violence prevention can tell us about developmental psychopathology. *Development & Psychopathology*, *14*, 713-729. Retrieved from www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12549701.
- Travis, Jr., R. (2013). Rap music and the empowerment of today's youth: evidence in everyday music listening, music therapy, and commercial rap music. *Child Adolescence Social Work Journal*, *30*, 139-167. doi:10.1007/s10560-012-0285-x.
- Tropeano, E. (2006). Does rap or rock music provoke violent behavior? *Journal of Undergraduate Psychological Research*, *1*, 31-34. Retrieved from http://library.wcsu.edu/dspace/bitstream/0/35/1/tropeano.pdf.
- Tynes, B. M., Umana-Taylor, A. J., Rose, C. A., Lin, J. & Anderson, C. J. (2012). Online racial discrimination and protective function of ethnic identity and self esteem for African American adolescents. *Developmental Psychology*, 48, 343-355. doi:10.1037/a0027032.
- Tyson, E. H. (2002). Hip hop therapy: An exploratory study of a rap music intervention with at-risk and delinquent youth. *Journal of Poetry Therapy*, 15, 131-144.
- Tyson, E. H. (2007). Rap-music attitudes and perceptions scale: A validation study. *Research on Social Work Practice*, *16*, 211-223. doi: 10.1777/1049731505281447.

- Tyson, E. H. (2012). Hip hop healing: rap music in grief therapy with an African American adolescent male. In S. Hadley & G. Yancy. *Therapeutic uses of rap and hip-hop* (p.293-307). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Umar, K. B. (2004). Promoting positive behavior: Abstinence education programs reach minority youth. Retrieved from http://www.closingthegap.com.
- Ungar, M. (2004). A constructionist discourse on resilience: Multiple contexts, multiple realities among at-risk children and youth. *Youth and Society*, *35*, 341–365. doi: 10.1177/0044118X03257030
- U. S. Department of Education (2000). Office of civil rights elementary and secondary school survey: 2000. Washington, DC: Author.
- Varner, F., & Mandara, J. (2013). Discrimination concerns and expectations as explanations for gendered socialization in African American families. *Child Development*, 84, 875-890. doi: 10.1111/cdev.12021
- Voisin, D. R., Bird, J. D. P., Hardestry, M., & Shi Shiu, C. (2011). African American adolescents living and coping with community violence on Chicago's southside. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 26, 2483-2498. doi: 10.1177/0886260510383029
- Wadsworth, M. E. (2015). Development of maladaptive coping: A functional adaptation to chronic, uncontrollable stress. *Child Development Perspectives*, *9*, 96-100. doi: 10.1111/cdep.12112.
- Wallace, C., Combs, S., Rodgers, N., & Bethea, M. (1998). Mo' Money, Mo' Problems. On *Life After Death* [CD]. New York, NY: Sony ATV Publishings.
- Wallace, S. G. (2012 July 25). The happy teen: A primer on the positives in youth development. Retrieved from www.psychologytoday.com.
- Weiss, R. E. (2009, November 29). Teen pregnancy. Retrieved from http://pregnancy.about.com/od/teenpregnancy/a/Teen-Pregnancy.htm.
- Weitzer, R. & Kubrin, C. (2009). Misogyny in rap music: A content analysis of prevalence and meanings. *Men & Masculinities*, *12*, 3-29. doi: 10.1177/1097184X08327696.
- Wells, A. & Hakanen, E. A. (1991). The emotional use of popular music by adolescents. *Journalism and Mass Communications Quarterly*, 66, 445-454. doi: 10.1177/107769909106800315.

- Wells, K. C., & Heilbron, N. (2012). Family-based cognitive-behavioral treatments for suicidal adolescents and their integration with individual treatment. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 19, 301-314. doi:10.1016/j.cbpra.2011.06.004
- West, K., & Leace, D. (2005). Hey mama. On *Late Registration* [CD]. Hollywood, CA: Roc A-Fella Records.
- West, K., Breaux, C., Young, C., Bronfman, B., Rutberg, E., Sandifer, S., Johnson, L., Presser, G., & Adamis, A. (2013). New slaves. On *Yeezus* [CD]. Hollywood, CA: Roc-A-Fella Records.
- Wiggs, F. (2007). The last poets (1968-). Retrieved from http://www.blackpast.org.
- Williams, J. (2006). *Enough*. New York, NY: Three Rivers Press.
- Wilson, W. J. (2003). Race, class and urban poverty: A rejoinder. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 26, 1096-1114. doi: 10.1080/0141987032000132522
- Winfrey, A. M. (2013). *H.Y.P.E.: Healing young people through empowerment*. Sauk Village, IL: African American Images.
- Wingood, G. M., DiClemente, R. J., Bernhardt, J. M., Harrington, K., Davies, S. L., Robillard, A., & Hook, E. W. III (2003). A prospective study of exposure to rap music videos and African American female adolescents' health. *American Journal of Public Health*, *93*, 437-439. doi:10.2105/AJPH.93.3.437
- Yo! MTV Raps (2002, March 5). Interview with NWA [Video Recording]. Retrieved from http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wp7Xzg0wxok.
- Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System: 2011 National Overview (2012). Washington, DC: BiblioGov.
- Zimmerman, M. A., Tuttle, L., Kieffer, E., Parker, E., Caldwell, C. H., & Maton, K. I. (2001). Psychosocial Outcomes of Urban African American Adolescents Born to Teenage Mothers. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 29, 779-805. doi:510762008-001
- Zimmerman, M. A., Bingenheimer, J. B., & Notaro, P. C. (2002). Natural mentors and adolescent resiliency: A study with urban youth. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *30*, 221-243. doi:10.1023/A:1014632911622

Biography

Tony L. Camp received his Bachelor of Science in Psychology from Bowie State University in 2002. He went on to receive his Master of Arts in Counseling Psychology at Howard University in 2006. He is currently working as Home-Based Intensive Therapist and Counselor at Adolescent and Family Growth Center in Springfield, Virginia.